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the STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
j ■ DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTA TION

Dv.iHirtmc.nl of Trnmportation
». '

Victoria F. Sheehan Wiiliam Cass, P.E.

Commissioner Assistant Commissioner

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu Bureau of Rail & Transit
and the Honorable Council April 11, 2019
State House

Concord, NH 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Transportation to enter into an agreement with Tri-County Community
Action Program, Inc. (Vendor 177195), Berlin, NH, for an amount not to exceed $990,535.00 for public
transportation services in the Coos, Grafton, and Carroll County regions, for the period July 1, 2019
through June 30, 2021 effective upon approval by Governor and Council. 100% Federal Funds.

Funding for this agreement is contingent upon the availability of funds in Fiscal Year 2020 and Fiscal
Year 2021, with the ability to adjust encumbrances through the Budget Office between State Fiscal
Years if needed and justified.

SFY 2020 SFY2021

04-96-96-964010-2916

Public Transportation
072-500575 Grants to Non-Profits-Federal $580,535.00 $410,000.00

EXPLANATION

The Department has approved requests for Federal Transit Administration (FTA) funding from Tri-
County Community Action Program, Inc. (TCCAP) to assist in the provision of public transit service.
This agreement includes two FTA funding programs, Section 5311 Formula Grants and Section 5310
Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Formula Program, as outlined below.

Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc. is a private, non-profit organization providing rural public
transportation, including transportation for seniors and individuals with disabilities in Coos and Grafton
Counties as North Country Transit (NCT) and Carroll County as Carroll County Transit (CCT). The
Department has allocated federal funding for the SFY 2020-2021 biennium based on prior funding
levels, applications received, and available FTA funds. For the SFY 2020-2021 biennium, the FTA
Section 5311 allocation for TCCAP is $803,000.00.

The Department's proposed SFY 2020 and 2021 operating budget includes funds from the FTA Section
5311 Formula Grants for Rural Areas Program (Section 5311) that provides funds for capital, planning
and operating assistance for public transportation in rural areas with populations of less than 50,000.

The Department released a public notice on January 24, 2019 announcing the availability of FTA
Section 5311 funds. Applications for requested funding were due on February 25, 2019. The

JOHN O. MORTON BUILDING • 7 HAZEN DRIVE • P.O. BOX 483 ♦ CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03302-0483
TELEPHONE; 603-271-2171 • FAX: 603-271-7025 • TDD ACCESS: RELAY NH 1-800-735-2964 • INTERNET: WWW.NHDOT.COM



Department received applications for six (6) rural public transit systems and awarded fund to each
transportation system. The systems and their respective application scores are as follows:

Advance Transit Advance Transit, Inc. 87.50%

Concord Area Transit

Community Action Program Belknap-
Merrimack Counties, Inc. 83.80%

Sullivan County
Transportation Southwestern Community Services 79.50%

City Express

VNA at Home Healthcare, Hospice &
Community Services 78.50%

North Country Transit Tri-County Community Action Program 78.30%

Carroll County Transit Tri-County Community Action Program 77.00%

An evaluation committee that consisted of Fred Butler (Public Transportation Administrator), Danielle
Goodman (Transit Compliance Specialist), and Michael Pouliot (Transportation Specialist) reviewed,
evaluated, and scored Section 5311 applications based on criteria as indicated in the application
materials and the Department's State Management Plan for FTA programs. The evaluation matrix is
provided below for reference:

a
The proposed service effectively addresses a demonstrated community need,
and/or the proposed service is a continuation or expansion of existing services.

15%

%
The applicant has the fiscal and technical capacity and adequate budget to

15%
operate its service.

3 The applicant has successful experience in providing transportation services. 15%

The application shows coordination with other transportation providers in the
service area: public, nonprofit, and for-profit.

10%

§
The applicant demonstrates involvement in and support for the project, financial
and otherwise, on the part of citizens and local government.

10%

(S
The applicant demonstrates effort to involve the private sector in the delivery of

10%
transportation services.

The applicant successfully demonstrates service efficiency and effectiveness,
measured in ridership, service miles and hours, costs, and fare recovery. New
applicants must demonstrate the ability to measure performance and achieve
goals.

15%

0
The applicant complies with relevant federal and state regulations, and has a
history of compliance with regulations and reporting requirements.

10%

100%

Note: Every application met the Department's criteria for inclusion in its SFY 2020-2021 public
transit funding plan and will be awarded separate amounts for the aforementioned transit
systems.



TCCAP has also been awarded FTA Section 5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with
Disabilities Formula Program (Section 5310) funds in the amount of $187,535.00 for SFY 2020. These
funds will be used to provide expanded transportation services in the Region 1 Grafton-Coos Regional
Coordinating Council (RCC) service area. TCCAP will act as the lead agency to ensure the provision of
accessible demand response transportation services for seniors and individuals with disabilities within
the region, and will support mobility management and strategic planning activities in cooperation with
the Region 1 RCC. The Section 5310 RCC funds were allocated by region according to a formula based
on regional populations of residents over 65 and those between the ages of 5-64 with disabilities. Each
individual RCC was responsible for conducting its own project solicitation, evaluation, and prioritization
and then submitting one regional application for eligible Section 5310 RCC projects through an
approved lead agency. The Grafton-Coos RCC designated TCCAP as the lead agency for Region 1 and
tasked TCCAP with applying for Section 5310 RCC funds on behalf of Region I. As required by FTA,
this project is identified in a locally developed coordinated public transit-human services transportation
plan.

TCCAP, in conjunction with its regional partners as applicable, will provide the required non-federal
matching funds. In the event that federal funds become unavailable, general funds will not be requested
to support this program.

The Agreement has been approved by the Attorney General as to form and execution and the
Department will verify the necessary funds are available pending enactment of the Fiscal Year 2020
and 2021 budget. Copies of the fully executed agreement are on file at the Secretary of State's Office
and the Department of Administrative Services' Office, and subsequent to Governor and Council
approval will be on file at the Department of Transportation.

Your approval of this resolution is respectfully requested.

Sincerely,

Victoria F. Sheehan

Commissioner

Attachments



FORM NUMBER P-37 (version 5/8/15)

Notice: This agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. IDENTIFICATION.

1.1 State Agency Name
New Hampshire Department of Transportation

1.2 State Agency Address
John 0. Morton Building
7 Hazen Drive

PO Box 483

Concord, NH 03302-0483

1.3 Contractor Name

Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc.
1.4 Contractor Address

30 Exchange Street
Berlin, NH 03570

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

603-752-1741

1.6 Account Number

04-96-96-964010-2916 072-

500575

1.7 Completion Date

06/30/2021

1.8 Price Limitation

J990.535.00

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency
Michelle Winters, Bureau of Rail & Transit

1.10 State Agency Telephone Number
603-271-2468

1.11 Contractor Signature

cwJlcJll ^

1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory i

1.13 Acknowledgement: State ofM60VV4^^^•C&County of

On , before the undersigned ofTicer, personally appeared the person identified in block 1. 12. or satisfactorily
proven to be the person whose name is signed in block 1.11, and acknowledged that s/he executed this dbcument in the capacity
indicated m block 1.12. —

■^.1 Signature oi Nomf^Ptiblip-CtTjiistjc* nfthc Pence
^  I CHRISTINA MQRIN, Notary Public

State of New Hampshife
My Corrtmisslon Expires Decembef 19. 2023

1.13.2^tiai»ettli3 Title of Notary or Justice of the Peace

1.14 Slate Ajgc«y Signature gnatory
Director

1,16 Approval by the N.H. Department of Administration.'Division of Personnel (if applicable) • • wnaii
Da,e:

l.is Name andPflbMtCcH^ltiliyi

By: Director, On:

1.17 Approval by the Attorney General (Fonn, Substance and Execution) (if applicable)

1.18 Approval by the Governor and Executive Council 0/applicable)

By: On:
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2. EMPLOYMENT OF CONTRACTOR/SERVICES TO

BE PERFORMED. The State ofNew Hampshire, acting
through the agency identified in block 1.1 ("State"), engages
eonlractor identified in block 1.3 ("Contractor") to perform,

the Contractor shall perform, the work or sale of goods, or
.•I. identified and more particularly described in the attached

EXHIBIT A which is incorporated herein by reference
("Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.

3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if
applicable, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties
hcreunder, shall become effective on the date the Governor
and Executive Council approve this Agreement as indicated in
block 1.18, unless no such approval is required, in which case
the Agreement shall become effective on the date the
Agreement is signed by the State Agency as shown in block
1.14 ("Effective Daie"i
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the

Effective Date, all Ser\'iccs performed by the Contractor prior
to the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not
become elective, the Slate shall have no liability to the
Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to pay
the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.
Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hcreunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereundcr. are
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation
of funds, and in no event shall the State be liable for any

•ments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated
.ds. In the event of a reduction or termination of

appropriated funds, the State shall have the right to withhold
payment until such funds become available, if ever, and shall
have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such termination. The State
shall not be required to transfer funds from any other account
to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the event funds in that
Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/
PAYMENT.

5.1 TTie contract price, method of payment, and terms of
payment are identified and more particularly described in
EXHIBIT B which is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
pcrfonnance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete
compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State
shall have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract
price.
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5.3 The State reserves the right to olTset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement
those liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA
80:7 through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in
no event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually
made hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block
1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all statutes, laws, regulations,
and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities
which impose any obligation or duty upon the Contractor,
including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal opportunity
laws. This may include the requirement to utilize auxiliary
aids and services to ensure that persons with communication
disabilities, including vision, hearing and speech, can
communicate with, receive information from, and convey
infonnation to the Contractor. In addition, the Contractor

shall comply with ail applicable copyright laws.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall
not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, color, religion, creed, age. sex,
handicap, sexual orientation, or national origin and will take
affirmative action to prevent such discrimination.
6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any part by monies of the
United States, the Contractor shall comply with all the
provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 ("Equal
Employment Opportunity"), as supplemented by the
regulations of the United States Department of Labor (41
C.F.R. Part 60). and with any rules, regulations and guidelines
as the State of New Hampshire or the United States issue to
implement these regulations. The Contractor fiirther agrees to
pemrit the State or United States access to any of the
Contractor's books, records and accounts for the purpose of
ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations and orders,
and the covenants, terms and conditions of this Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all
personnel necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor
warrants that all personnel engaged in the Services shall be
qualified to perform the Services, and shall be properly
licensed and otherwise authorized to do so under ail applicable
laws.

7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in'block 1,7. the Contractor shall not hire,
and shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State
employee or official, who is materially involved in the
procurement, administration or pcrfonnance of this

of 4
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Agrcemenl. This provision shall survive lermination of this
Agreement.

7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or
her successor, shall be the Stale's representative. In the event

ny dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement,
. Contracting Officer's decision shall be final for the State.

8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder

("Event of Default"):
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule:

8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition
of this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State
may take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a wrinen notice specifying the Event
of Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the
absence of a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30)
days from the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is
not timely remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Contractor notice of tcnnination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice spccif^nng the Event
of Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 set off against any other obligations the State may owe to
the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of any
Event of Default; and/or

4 treat the Agreement as breached and pursue any of its
■ledies at law or in equity, or both.

9. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIAUTY/
PRESERVATION.
9.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, chails, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses,
graphic representations, computer programs, computer
printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, papers, and documents,
all whether finished or unfinished.
9.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the properly of the State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon
termination of this Agreement for any reason.
9.3 Confidentiality of data shall be govemcd by N.H. RSA
chapter 91 -A or other existing law. Disclosure of data
requires prior written approval of the State.
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10. TERMINATION. In the event of an early termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of the
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contracting
OfTicer, not later than fiflecn (15) days after the date of
termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Report shall be identical to those of any Final Report
described in the attached EXHIBIT A.

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In
the performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all
respects an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor
an employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation
or other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELECATION/SUBCONTRACTS.
The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice and
consent of the State. None of the Services shall be
subcontracted by the Contractor without the prior written
notice and consent of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall defend,
indemnify and hold harmless the State, its officers and
employees, from and against any and all losses suffered by the
State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers
and employees, by or on behalf of any person, on account of,
based or resulting from, arising out of (or which may be
claimed to arise out oO the acts or omissions of the
Contractor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the
sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby
reserved to the State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.
14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
maintain in force, and shall require any subcontractor or
assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following
insurance:
14.1.1 comprehensive general liability insurance against all
claims of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts
of not less than S1,000,000per occurrence and S2,000,000
aggregate; and ^
14.1.2 special cause of toss coverage form covering all
property subject to subparagraph 9.2 herein, in an amount not
less than 80®/o of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall
be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the
State of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the State of New
Hampshire.

Contractor Initials
Date



14.3 The Contractor shall fiimish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certificate(s)
of insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer

uificd in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certificaiefs) of
.jrance for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this

Agreement no later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration
dale of each of the insurance policies. The ceilificalc(s) of
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. Each certificate(s) of
insurance shall contain a clause requiring the insurer to
provide the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, no less than thirty (30) days prior written
notice of cancellation or modification of the policy.

15. WORKERS'COMPENSATION.

15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees,
certifies and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with
or exempt from, the requirements ofN.I-l. RSA chapter 281-A
("Workers' Compensation ").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to iJic

requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A. Contractor shall
maintain, and require any subcontractor or assignee to secure
and maintain, payment of Workers' Compensation in
connection with activities which the person proiX)ses to
undertake pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor shall
furnish the Contracting Ofilcer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, proof of Workers' Compensation in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A and any
applicable rcnewal(s) thereof, which shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible for payment of any Workers' Compensation
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or
any subcontractor or employee of Contractor, which might
arise under applicable State of New Hampshire Workers'
Compensation laws in connection with the performance of the

vices under this Agreement.

16. WAIVER OP BREACH. No failure by the Slate to
enforce any provisions hereof after any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of its rights with regard to that Event of
Default, or any subsequent Event of Default. No express
failure to enforce any Event of Default shall be deemed a
waiver of the right of the Slate to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of Default
on the part of the Contractor,

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the
time of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United
States Post Office addressed to the panics at the addresses
given in blocks 1.2 and 1.4. herein.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended,
waived or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed
by the parties hereto and only after approval of such
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire unlctts no

such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to
Slate law. rule or policy.

19. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective
successors and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement
IS the wording chosen by the panics to express their mutual
intent, and no rule of construction shall be applied against or
in favor of any party.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The panics hereto do not intend to
benefit any third panics and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement
arc for reference purposes only, and the words contained
therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or
aid in the interpretation, construction or meaning of the
provisions of this Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth in the attached EXHIBIT C arc incorporated herein by
reference.

23. SEXTiRABILl'n'. in the event any of the provisions of
this Agreement arc held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be contrary to any slate or federal law. the remaining ̂
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may
be executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original, constitutes the entire Agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
Agreements and understandings relating hereto.

Page 4 of 4
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EXHIBITS TO CONTRACT

EXHIBIT A Scope of Services

EXHIBIT B Budget

EXHIBIT C Special Provisions

EXHIBIT D Vehicle List

Certificate of Good Standing

Certificate of Corporate Vote

Certificate of Insurance

Federal Clauses

DOL Special Warranty - Unified Protective Arrangement

2 CFR Part 200

Social Service Documents to Include: "

501 (c)
Financial Report
Board of Directors

Key Personnel and Salaries
Resumes



Tri-County Community Action Program

EXHIBIT A

SCOPE OF SERVICES

I. The Conlraclor, Tri-Counly Community Action Program., (hereinafter the "Contractor") shall
provide the following public transit servjce(s):

a. Fixed route, demand-responsive, and/or route deviation public transit services in Coos
County to include the towns of Clarksville, Colebrook, Columbia, Dalton, Dummer,
Errol, Gorharn, Groveton, Jefferson, Lancaster, Milan, Northumberland, Pitlsburg,
Randolph, Shelbume, Stark, Stewartslown, Stratford, Whilefield and the City of Berlin;
Grafton County to include the towns of Bethlehem, Franconia, Lincoln, Lisbon, Littleton,
Lyman, Sugar Hill, Twin Mountain and Woodstock, as detailed in the "Project
Description" of tlie Contractor's application to the New Hampshire Department of
Transportation, Bureau of Rail and Transit (hereinafter "NHDOT") for Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) Section 5311 funding. The Contractor's application is hereby
incorporated by reference and made part of this agreement.

b. Fixed route, demand-responsive, and/or route deviation public transit services in Carroll
County to include the towns of Albany, Conway, Center Conway, North Conway,
Chocorua, Madison, Ossipee, Center Ossipee, West Ossipee, Moultonborough,
Sandwich, Silverlake, Tamworth, Tuftonboro and Wolfeboro as detailed in the "Project
Description" of the Contractor's FTA Section 5311 application to the NHDOT. The
Contractor's application is hereby incorporated by reference and made part of this
agreement.

c. Serve as the lead agency for Region 1 Coos-Grafton Counties for FTA Section 5310 RCC
funds to provide accessible transportation services to seniors and individuals with
disabilities in cooperation with the Region 1 Coos-Grafton RCC. This project is for the
time period July 1, 2019-June 30, 2021 ..The Contractor's 5310 RCC grant application
is hereby incorporated by reference and made part of this agreement. The Contractor
agrees to provide all services indicated in the grant application unless modified per this
agreement.

11. The following terms and conditions apply to all of the FTA Section 5311-funded public transit
sendees provided by Contractor pursuant to this agreement:

a. The Commissioner of the Department of Transportation or the Commissioner's designee
(hereinafter the "Commissioner") may require the Contractor to provide additional
transportation services or to reduce transportation services provided under this contract.
Any alterations to such transportation services shall be submitted in writing by the
Commissioner to the Contractor. The Contractor shall implement the alterations within
thirty (30) days unless a different timeframe is agreed to by the Commissioner and the
Contractor.

b. The Contractor may request to revise transportation services, as submitted in the
Contractor's grant application to the NHDOT, to add, reduce, or adjust transportation
services provided under this contract. Any alterations to such transportation services,
including alterations for the provision of ser\'ice to special events, shall be requested in
writing by the Contractor to the Commissioner for approval at least 30 days in advance.
Revisions subject to a public comment period shall be requested at least 60 days in



advance. Upon approval of the Commissioner, the Contractor shall implement any
alterations within thirty (30) days unless a different timeframe is agreed to by the
Commissioner and the Contractor.

c. The Contractor shall not change, add, or delete any route or make any fare, service or
operating schedule adjustments without the prior written agreement of the Commissioner,
except in an emergency situation. In such an emergency, the Contractor shall notify the
Commissioner no later than the next working day following the day of such changes.
Such emergency changes will be valid for a maximum of five days; thereafter, the written
approval of the Commissioner shall be required to continue such emergency changes.

d. All project vehicles, including those Federally-funded vehicles outlined in Exhibit D,
Project Equipment, as identified by their Vehicle Identification Numbers, as well as any
additional vehicles utilized for the project, shall be used in accordance with all applicable
Federal and Stale laws as well as NHDOT requirements.

III. The following terms and conditions apply to all of the FTA Section 5310-funded seivices for
seniors and individuals with disabilities provided by Contractor pursuant to this agreement:

a. Mobility management activities, and as applicable, transportation services,
subcontractors, and maximum reimbursement rates, shall consik of those submitted in
the Contractor'.s .5310 Regional Coordinating Council (RCC) application or a.s
subsequently modified by NHDOT through written notification to the Contractor. Further
amendments to mobility management activities, transportation services, subcontractors,
and/or maximum reimbursement rates require RCC approval, as documented in official
minutes, as well as written approval from the Commissioner.

b. All services provided shall conform to FTA Section 5310 guidelines. Per FTA
requirements, the Contractor shall be responsible for oversight of subrecipients and
contractors relative to FTA requirements.

c. The Contractor shall ensure the provision of ADA accessible services within the RCC
region. Any marketing materials, brochures, and other service infonnation shall describe
it as ADA accessible. It is acceptable for a subcontractor that does not utilize accessible
vehicles to contract with an accessible provider in order to meet this requirement.

d. The Contractor must fulfill its contractual obligations and provide its scope of services
throughout the contract period regardless of mobility management expenses exceeding
the maximum allowed to be reimbursed.

e. The Commissioner may require the Contractor to provide additional transportation
services or to reduce transportation services provided under this contract. Any alterations
to such transportation services shall be submitted in writing by the Commissioner to the
Contractor. The Contractor shall implement the alterations within thirty (30) days unless
another timeframe is agreed to by the Commissioner and the Contractor.

f. Services shall last the entire contract period. As necessary, the Contractor shall establish
trip priorities to ensure funds are not expended prematurely.



EXHIBIT B

BUDGET

The Contract price, as defined in Section i .8 of the General Provisions, are the respective FTA
Section 5311 and Section 5310 portions of the eligible project costs. Federal funds are granted as
follows:

Section 5311 SFY 2020 SFY 2021

Coos Count>'

Administration $90,000.00 $90,000.00

Capital Preventive Maintenance $43,000.00 $45,000.00

Capital ADA $0.00 $0.00 ■

Operating $115,000.00 $122,000.00

Sub Total Coos County $248,000.00 $257,000.00
*

Carroll County SFY 2020 SFY 2021

Administration $75,000.00 $80,000.00

Capital Preventive Maintenance $30,000.00 $32,000.00

Capital ADA $0.00 $0.00

Operating $40,000.00 $41,000.00

Sub Total Carroll County $145,000.00 $153,000.00

Sub Total 5311 Funding $393,000.00 $410,000.00

Section 5310 RCC SFY 2020

Contracted Services $103,462.00

Mobility Management $84,073.00

Sub Total 5310 RCC Funding $187,535.00

Total Federal Funds $580,535.00 $410,000.00

Total Contract Funds Requested $990,535.00

a. Funds are contingent upon Federal and State appropriations.

II. Not less than fourteen days prior to the submission of the Contractor's first request for FTA Section
531 1 reimbursement, the Contractor shall submit to the Commissioner a budget incorporating all
funds to be expended in the provision of services pursuant to this contract. Budget revisions may be
made with written approval of the Commissioner. Budget revisions may only request the transfer of
funds within a category or between categories with the same matching ratio.

III. For 5310 RCC services, the Contractor may seek reimbursement for these funds by submitting a
monthly or quarterly invoice for the total eligible expenses less a 20% agency match to the
NHDOT. The invoice must include verification of source(s) of matching funds and statements from
service providers to support the request for matching funds. Mobility management costs shall be
itemized and include such information as required to support the request. The Contractor will verify
that reimbursement is for non-Medicaid eligible trips only.

IV. The Contractor may seek reimbursement only for eligible expenses listed in the budget and detail-



of-cost forni provided by the State, with the exception of funds specifically reserved, if any, and
identified in "Specifically Programmed Funds," at the end of this Exhibit.

V. At the sole discretion of the Commissioner, the Contractor may carry forward any unexpended
portion of the federal funds included in the Contract Price to a subsequent contract, if any, between
the Stale and the Contractor.



EXHIBIT C

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

C.l. Amend P-37 Section 2. "EMPLOYMENT OF CONTRACTOR/SERVICES TO BE

PERFORMED" by adding the following:

2.1 The Contractor may change services only with the prior written agreement of the State and in
accordance with applicable Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements.

C.l. Amend P-37 Section 5. "CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/PAYMENT' by adding the

following:

5.5 The amount paid by the State to the Contractor shall not exceed 50% of allowable operating
costs less fare revenues plus 80% of allowable administrative and capital costs. Operating,
administrative and capital costs are identified in Exhibit B. The Contractor shall provide and
document the availability of local funds sufficient; to meet the project cost in excess of the
Contract Price Limitation.

5.6 In the event that revenues exceed the total allowable costs, said revenues in excess of total

allowable costs shall be placed in an interest beaiing account within 30 days of the Comftlelirm
Date and made available to the State upon demand.

5.7 The Contractor shall submit a request for payment to the State on a form specified by the Stale
on a monthly or quarterly basis, together with all information to support the request. Such
requests for payment shall be properly completed and signed. Requests for payments must be
for allowable costs only as defined in 2 CFR Part 200. No requests for advance payment will be
accepted by the State.

5.8 Upon receipt of the request for payment, the State shall review the request to determine the
allowability of costs. In connection with this review, the State may demand production of (and
the Contractor shall produce) and inspect any documents and records described in Section 5.

5.9 Within 30 days of receipt of the request for payment and other documents and records required
by the State, the Stale shall determine the allowability of costs and the amount due and owing
to the Contractor and shall pay said amount, subject to other provisions of this Agreement.
Contract reimbursements shall not exceed 50% of the total contract amount in any given
quarter.

5.10 Final Payment. Satisfactoiy acceptance by the State and FTA of all reports required by this
Agreement is a condition precedent to final payment (i.e., payment for the last month or portion
thereof of this Agreement). All reports will be prepared to the satisfaction of the State and
Federal Transit Administration (FTA). The final payment may be retained and withheld
pending receipt and satisfactory acceptance of all reports required by this Agreement and
resolution of all pending matters.

C.3. Amend P-37 Section 6. "COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS AND

REGULATIONS/EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY" by adding the following:



6.4 The Contractor shall post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for
employment, notices setting forth the provisions of this non-discrimination clause.

6.5 The Contractor shall state, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees, thai all qualified
applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, color, age, creed,
sex or national origin.

6.6 The provisions of 2 CFR 200 shall apply to local administration of this agreement and any
subcontracts under this agreement.

C.4. Amend P-37 Section 9. "DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY/PRESERVATION" by adding
the following:

9.4 The following restrictions apply to all subject data first produced in the performance of this

agreement:

a) Except for its own internal use, the Contractor may not publish or reproduce such data in
whole or in part, or in any manner or form, nor may the Contractor authorize others to do
so, without the written consent of the State, until such time as the FTA may have either
released or approved the release of such data to the public.

b) As authorized by 2 CFR 200, the FTA reserves a royalty-free, non-exclusive and
irrevocable license to reproduce, publish and otherwise use, and to authorize others to use,
for Federal purposes, any work developed under a grant, cooperative agreement, sub-grant,
or third party contract, irrespective of whether a copyright has been obtained; and any
rights of copyright to which a recipient, sub-recipient, or third party contractor purchases
ownership with Federal assistance.

9.5 It is FTA's intent to increase the body of mass transportation knowledge. Therefore, the
Contractor understands and agrees that in addition to the rights set forth in 9.4 (b) above, FTA
may make available to any recipient, subgrantee, contractor or subcontractor its license in the
copyrighi to the date de-rived under this Agreement or n copy of the data first produced under
this Agreement.

9.6 The Contractor shall indemnify, save and hold hamiless the State and United States, their
officers, agents and employees acting within the scope of their official duties against any
liability, including costs and expenses, resulting from any willful or intentional violation of the
proprietary rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, arising out of the publication, translation,
reproduction, delivery, use, or disposition of any data furnished under this Agreement.

9.7 Nothing contained in this clause shall imply a license to the United States under any patent or
be construed as affecting the scope of any license or other right othenvise granted to the United
States under any patent.

9.8 Sections 9.4, 9.5, and 9.6 above are not applicable to material furnished to the Contractor by the
State or United States and incorporated in the work furnished under the agreement; provided
that such incorporated material is identified by the Contractor at the time of delivery of such
work.

9.9 In the event that the project is not completed for any reason, all data developed under that
project shall become subject Data as defined in Section 9.1 and shall be delivered as the State
or FTA may direct.



C.5. Amend P-37 Section 10. "TERMINATION" by adding the following:

10.1 The termination report must be accepted by the State and the Federal Transit Administration
(FTA) prior to final payment.

10.2 Termination; Liability. In the event of termination under Section 4 or 10.4 of this Agreement,
the acceptance of a Termination Report by the State shall in no event relieve the Contractor
from any and all liability for damages sustained or incurred by the State as a result of the
Contractor's breach of its obligations hereunder, including refund of any federal funds required
by FTA.

10.3 Completion of Services; Payment of Price. Excepting those obligations of the Contractor
which, by the terms of this Agreement, do not expire on the Completion Date, upon the
completion of the Services and upon payment of the Contract Price, this Agreement, and all

obligations of the parties hereunder, shall cease and shall be without recourse to the parties
hereto.

10.4 Termination for Convenience. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary,
either the State or, except where notice of default has been given to the Contractor hereunder,
the Contractor may terminate this Agreement without cause upon thirty (30) days written
notice.

C.6. Amend P-37 Section 12. "ASSIGNMENTS/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS" by adding the
following:

12.1 The Contractor shall cause the provisions of this contract to be inserted in all subcontracts for

any work covered by this Agreement so that the provisions will be binding on each
subcontractor; provided, however, that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to
subcontractors for standard commercial supplies or raw materials. The Contractor shall take
such action with respect to any subcontract as the State may direct as a means of enforcing such
provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance. The Contractor shall ensure that any
subcontractor ha.s obtained all licenses, permits or approvals required for the performance of
contract services.

C.7. Amend P-37 Section 14. "INSURANCE" by adding the following:

14.1.1.a. The State of New Hampshire, Department of Transportation has accepted the General
Liability insurance of $1,000,000 per occurrence, $3,000,000 General Aggregate for Tri-
County Community Action Program, Inc. in fulfillment of the requirements of Section 14.1.1
General Liability Insurance of the P-37 form.

C.8. Amend P-37 by adding "DEFINITIONS" as Section 25:

25. DEFINITJONS

ALLOWABLE COSTS: Costs that are incurred in the performance of the Services described
in Exhibit A and which satisfy the requirements of 2 CFR 200.

FTA: U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration

PROJECT APPLICATION: The narrative, charts, figures and/or maps submitted to the State
detailing the scope of the public transportation program of the Contract as modified and
approved by the Slate.



REVENUE: Fares from individuals or other direct income for the public transportation
services being provided by the Contractor. Revenues also include funds from contracts,
purchase of service agreement, and excess matching funds that directly benefit the
transportation service.

SECTION 5311: Section 531 1 of the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended.

STATE: The State of New Hampshire, acting through the Department of Transportation,
Bureau of Rail and Transit.

C.9. Amend P-37 by adding "ACCOUNTING, BOOKKEEPING AND REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS" as Section 26:

.1. Ledgers. Contractor and/or subcontractor shall establish and maintain ledger sheets for each
budget category. Entries shall be made and shall reflect the financial activities of the Contractor.
The ledger sheet must be in a form approved by the State. The ledger will indicate the funds
remaining in each line item of the Contract Budget at the beginning of each month. Entries shall,
be made on a running basis and carried over to the following month; that is, figures will be
brought forward cumulatively. Contractor shall also prepare and submit to the State a profit and
loss statement quarterly if such information is not provided with invoices.

.2. Accounts Receivable. Contractor and/or subcontractor shall deposit all revenue in an interest-
bearing account with a banking institution in this Slate. Contractor shall prepare and maintain
receipt vouchers for all revenue. Immediately/ipon receipt, Contractor and/or subcontractor shall
credit all revenue to the appropriate receipt account. Contractor and/or subcontractor shall
establish and maintain an Accounts Receivable Ledger. The receipt number appearing in the
Ledger shall correspond to the receipt voucher number. A receipt voucher must be completed on
a form approved by the Stale and shall identify each component of every deposit. All appropriate
supporting documents for each deposit should be attached to the receipt voucher.

.3. Payables. Contractor and/or subcontractor shall prepare vouchers to document all expenditures of
funds. The voucher shall include the following information and shall be prepared on a form
approved by the State: The Division and account numbers from which the funds will be drawn,
the dale of expenditure, a voucher number running in sequence, and any appropriate comments
supporting the expenditure of funds (e.g., invoices and payroll vouchers). All invoices received
by the Contractor shall be checked for accuracy and allowability. Each invoice must be approved
for payment by the Contract Manager or designee. Immediately upon payment, Contractor and/or
subcontractor shall make entries to the appropriate ledger sheets documenting payment. (Each
subcontractor shall identify a Contract Manager).

.4. Voucher and Receipt Register. Contractor and/or subcontractor shall establish and maintain two
registers that will contain a running total of all payable receipt vouchers. The registers will
provide a summary of voucher or receipt numbers, amount and purpose of action. No
self-designated abbreviations are to be used.

.5. Check Register. Contractor and/or subcontractor shall maintain a check register. This register is
also considered a book of original entry, and is posted to the ledger immediately.

.6. Time Sheet, Taxes, and Benefits. Contractor and/or subcontractor shall require each of its
employees to: 1) submit weekly time reports designating work performed and time spent on such
work, or 2) be included in an indirect cost allocation plan approved by the cognizant Federal
agency. The contractor shall summarize lime reports by task and apply employee's rates of pay to



the hours worked. The Contract Manager shall review completed and signed time reports, and
cause them to be posted to the appropriate category in the general ledger. The Contractor shall
maintain records of employee payroll and benefits and shall post this information to the
appropriate category in the general ledger. The Contract Manager shall ensure that all payments
are on a timely basis.

.7. Reimbursements. On a monthly basis, the Contractor shall submit a description of Contract
activities, in a format as required by the Slate. Should the Contractor show a profit for any month,
the Contractor shall apply the amount of profit against subsequent reimbursement requests. The
Contractor shall agree to provide information in addition to the monthly narrative at such times
and in such manner as the State may require, and to prepare any reports which may be requested
by the Stale including but not limited to a final or termination report if operations cease.

.8. Maintenance of Records. The Contractor shall keep and maintain the records, documents, and
accounts described herein for a period of three years after the FTA grant is closed. The Contractor
shall maintain, and make available to the State and FTA, records relating to complaints and
comments received from the public. In the event the State disputes the Contractor's operations or
records as submitted for payment or otherwise, final resolution shall rest with the State.

.y. Audits and Inspections. Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date, and for a period
of three (3) years after the FTA grant is closed or the date of resolution of all matters relating to
this Agreement, whichever is later, at any time during the Contractor's normal business hours, and
as often as the State or FTA may demand, the Contractor shall make available to the State and
FTA or their designees all records pertaining to matters covered by this Agreement. The
Contractor shall permit the State and FTA to audits examine^ and reproduce such record.s, and to
make audits of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of personnel. Data (as defined
in P-37 section 9.1) and other information relating to all matters covered by this Agreement. As
used in this paragraph, "Contractor" includes all persons, natural or fictional, affiliated with,
controlled by, or under common ownership with, the entity identified as the Contractor in 1.3 of
P-37.

.10. Independent Audit. The Contractor shall submit one audit done by one Certified Public
Accountant (CPA) for the entire project, or, as the State may require, for any part of the project
upon demand. Monies required for payment of the audit shall be set aside in the Contract Budget
for that specific purpose.

.10.1. In the event the audit reveals that monies are due and owing to the Slate from the
Contractor, for whatever reasons, the Contractor shall pay to the State such sums within
thirty (30) days of the audit date.

.1 1. The Contractor shall submit quarterly performance, drug and alcohol, and charter activity reports
within 30 days of the end of each quarter and shall submit any fontis, information or reports
required by the Stale to complete the FTA's National Transit Database (NTD) reporting.

€.10. Amend P-37 by adding "PROJECT EQUIPMENT AND REAL PROPERTY" as Section 27:

27. PROJECT EQUIPMENT AND REAL PROPERTY. The following terms and conditions
apply to all equipment and real property purchased in whole or in part with funds provided
through this or other Agreements between the State and the Contractor:

a. All procurements shall be made in accordance with 2 CFR 200 and FTA Circular 4220.IF
and future amendments, and with Buy America requirements, 49 CFR Part 660.



b. All vehicles shall be purchased by the Slate, unless the Contractor has received prior
approval from the State to procure vehicles.

c. All other equipment with a cost in excess of five hundred ($500) per unit shall be purchased
by the Contractor subject to the prior approval of the State.

d. Title to all project equipment shall be in the name of the Contractor; provided, however, that
in order to secure the complete performance of this Agreement, the Contractor shall give the
State a security interest in all such equipment at the time of purchase and shall execute
financing statements and do all other acts necessary or useful to the perfection of that
interest and the renewal thereof. In connection with the purchase of any motor vehicles
pursuant to this Agreement, the Contractor shall give the State a security interest in the
motor vehicles at the time of purchase and shall take all steps necessary to protect the State's
security interest, including taking steps to identify the State as a lien holder of such motor
vehicles on the motor vehicle titles.

e. In the event that this agreement is terminated, all project equipment and property becomes
the property of the State and it is understood and agreed that legal title to such equipment
shall be transferred to the State as soon as feasible. Project equipment will be disposed of in
accordance with in"A Circular 9040. IG, and the State Management Plan.

C11. Amend P-37 by adding "EQUIPMENT CERTIFICATION" as section 28:

28. EOUlPMF,NT rERTTFICATION. The Contractor shall maintain a current inventoiy listing
of all nonexpendable property involved in this Agreement. The Contract shall submit to the
Slate a certification that the equipment Is still being used iii aceordanee with ilie icims of the
Agreement. The inventory listing and equipment certification shall be supplied to the State by
each year, generally by June 30'^'.

C.I2. Amend P-37 by adding "EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE" as section 29:

29. EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE. Contractor shall be responsible for the maintenance and
repair of all equipment used in the service described in Exhibit D. Contractor shall

^  maintain all such equipment at a high level of cleanliness, safety, and mechanical
soundness. The contractor shall certify that a proper maintenance plan that meets or
exceeds the original equipment manufacturer's preventive maintenance guidelines is
followed. Vehicle maintenance plans must be approved by the Board of Directors. All
maintenance, repair and physical improvement activities on equipment shall be
conducted by the Contractor and at a location specified by the Contractor. The Contractor
shall notify the State of any changes in this location. The Contractor further agrees to
maintain, repair, or make any physical improvement to equipment as requested by the
State. The State, FTA and/or their designees shall have the right to conduct periodic
inspections for the purpose of confirming proper maintenance and repair.

C.13. Amend P-37 by adding "REPAIR RECORDS AND REPORTS" as section 30:

30. REPAIR RECORDS AND REPORTS. The Contractor shall maintain a complete and up to
date record of all motor vehicle repairs, and shall make such records available to the State and
FTA upon demand.

C.14. Amend P-37 by adding "VEHICLE STORAGE" as section .31:

31. VEHICLE STORAGE. With respect to any motor vehicles purchased in whole or part under
this Agreement, or maintained under this Agreement, the Contractor shall park or garage each



vehicle so as to ensure maximum available protection and safety for each vehicle. The
Contractor shall also ensure that each vehicle will be parked or garaged in such a manner that
its daily operations are not impaired or curtailed by conditions of weather or any other
circumstances. The Contractor shall notify the State of the location of the garaging site and any
relocation.

C.15. Amend P-37 by adding "TRAINING AND DRIVER REVIEW" as section 32:

32. TRAINING AND DRIVER REVIEW. The State may require participation in training courses
determined to be essential to FTA program management in this contract period and may require
participation in such training programs as it deems necessary by drivers and other employees
involved in the transportation of the public. Training may include defensive driving, passenger
assistance, emergency procedures and periodic refresher training every three (3) years. The
Contractor agrees that the State shall have the right to review the performance of all drivers
who are employed in connection with this Agreement, and to disallow the use of any driver
whose performance as a driver is determined to be unsatisfactory by the State.

C.16. Amend P-37 by adding "SAFETY REQUIREMENTS" as section 33:

33. SAFETY REQUIREMENTS. All project equipment shall be inspected and certified by the
Department of Safety, and shall meet all applicable Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards
and Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations as required by the United States Department of
Transportation, and by the New Hampshire Department of Safety under RSA 266:72-a, in the
purchase and operation of all project equipment.

' The Contractor shall provide the Slate with full and prompt written notification of any accident
involving any vehicle used in its sen'ices. In addition, the Contractor shall be responsible to
report any accident in compliance with State law.

The Contractor shall submit to the State by February 15 of each year a report covering the
previous year (January 1 through December 31), summarizing the results of its alcohol misuse
prevention and anti-drug programs on FTA approved forms. This shall be in compliance with
49CFR Part 655.

C.17. Amend P-37 by adding "SERVICE LIMITATIONS" as section 34:

34. SERVICE LIMITATIONS. The Contractor shall not engage in the provision of transportation
services other than those described in Exhibit'A, or outside the service area described in Exhibit
A, without the written consent of the State and without obtaining the appropriate operating
authority. The Contractor shall not engage in charter or school bus operations except as
permitted by 49 CFR Parts 604 and 605, respectively.

C. 18. Amend P-37 by adding "CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIONS" as section 35:

35. CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIONS. Contractor warrants that with respect to the
Services to be performed, it has obtained all licenses, permits, or approvals which are required
by any law, order or regulation of any authority, state or federal, or which may be necessary for
the performance of the Services hereunder. The Contractor warrants that all personnel engaged
in the Services shall be qualified to perform such Services, and shall be properly licensed and
authorized to perform such Services under all applicable laws.

C.19. Amend P-37 by adding "LABOR PROVISIONS" as section 36:

36. LABOR PROVISIONS. The Contractor agrees to adhere to the tenns and conditions of the
Unified Protective Arrangement, Section 533(b) of 49 USC 53 or as amended, incorporated



herein for ihe prelection of the employees of any employer providing^transportation services
assisted by this Agreement, and the employees of any other surface transportation providers in
the transportation service area identified in Exhibit A.

C.20. Amend P-37 by adding "PATENT RJGHTS" as section 37:

37. PATENT RIGHTS. If any invention, improvement, or discovery of the Contractor is
conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the course of or under this Contract, which
invention, improvement or discovery may be patentable under the laws of the United States or
any foreign country, the Contractor shall immediately notify the State and provide a detailed
report. The rights and responsibilities of the Contractor and the State with respect to such
invention, improvement, or discovery will be determined in accordance with applicable Federal
laws, regulations, policies and any waiver thereof.

C.21. Amend P-37 by adding "BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION" as section 38:

38. BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION. The Contractor warrants that it has not employed or
retained any company or person, other than a bona-fide employee working solely for the
Contractor, to solicit or secure this Agreement; and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any
company or person, other than a bona-fide employee working solely Ibr the Contractor, any fee,
commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gifts or any other consideration, contingent upon or
resulting from the award or making of this Agreement. For breach or violation of this warranty,
the State shall have the right to annul this Agreement without liability or, in its discretion to
deduct from the Agreement price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of
such fee, commission, percentage, brokerage, brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee.

Rev 3/27/19
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EXHIBIT D: AGENCY VEHICLE LIST

ID NUMBER %FTA FUNDS FTA GRANT #

TRI-COUNTY CAP

2003 Starcrafi Starlile E-350 Small Body Chassis 1FDWE35L03HA87576 tr 80% NH-16-0028

20! 0 Eldorado Aerolite 8&2 gas bus IFDEE3FL9ADB01487 100% NH-86-X001

2010 Eldorado Aerolite 8&2 gas bus IFDEE3FL0ADB0I488 100% MH-86-X00I

2010 Eldorado Aerolite 8&2 gas bus IFDEE3FLIADB01483 100% NH-86-X001

2010 Eldorado Aerolite" 8«&.2 gas bus 1FDEE3FL2ADB01489 100% NH-86-XOOi

2011 Eldorado Aerolite 8&2 bus IFDEE3FL0BDA7342I 80% NH-I6-X037

201 1 Eldorado Aerolite 8&2 Gas Bus IFDEE3FL9BDA 73420 80% NH-16-X037

201 1 Startrans Senator 11 bus I6&2 1FDFE4FS6ADB0I898 100% NH-86-X00I

2011 Startrans Senator 1! bus 16&2 1FDF34FS4ADB0I897 100% NH-86-X00I

201 i Startrans Senator II bus I6&2 iFDFE4FSOADB01895 100% NH-86-X00I

2013 Ford Phoenix 8&2 gasoline IFDEE3FL7DDA4I956 80% NH-I6-X039

2016 Ford E350 8 & 2 Passenger Bus IFDEE3FS5GDC57851 85% NH-I6-X043

16 Ford E350 8 & 2 Passenger Bus IFDEE3FS7GDC57852 80% NH-34-000I

2016 Ford E350 8 & 2 Passenger Bus IFDEE3FS9GDC57853 80% NH-34-0001

2017 Ford E350 8 & 2 Passenger IFDEE3FS8HDC29270 85% NH-34-0003

Total Vehicles: 15



State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I. William M. Gardner, Sccrclary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certily that TRl-COUNTY COMMUNITY

ACTION PROGRAM, INC. (TRI-COLfNTV CAP) is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in

New Hampshire on May 18, 1965. I further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State's office have

been received and is in good standing as far as this ofTicc is concerned.

Business ID: 63020

Certificate Number: 0004483439

OSf

AO.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF.

I hereto set my hand and cause lo be alTi.xed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 1st day of April A.D. 2019.

William M. Gardner

Secretary of Slate



CERTIFICATE OF VOTE

Gary Coulombe
(Name of the elected Officer of the Agency: cannot be contract signatory)

do hereby certify that:

1. 1 am a duly elected Officer of _Tri-County community Action program, inc..
{Agency Name)

2. The following is a true copy of the resolution duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors of

the Agency duly held on 6/26/18

RESOLVED: That the

(Date)

Chief Financial Officer

(Title of Contract Signatory)

Is hereby authorized on behalf of this Agency to enter into the said contract with the State and to
execute any and all documents, agreements and other instruments, and any amendments, revisions,
or modifications thereto, as he/she may deem necessary, desirable or appropriate.

3. The forgoing resolutions have not been amended or revoked, and remain in full force and effect as of

the

4.

day

(Date
of .April_, 2019_.
Contract Signed)

_Randall Pilotte is the duly elected Chief Financial Officer

(Name of Contract Signatory)

of the Agency.

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

County of _Coos

(Title of Contract Signatory)

(Signature of the Elected Officer)

The forgoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ^ day of April, 2019,

By Gary Coulomlje_
(Name of Elected Officer of the Agency)

CHRISTINA MORIN. Notary Put}lic
State of New Hampshire

My Commission Expires December 19.2023
(NOTARY SEAL)

Public/Justice of the Peace)

Commission Expires: December 19, 2023_



AC^cf CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MMIDOrYYYY)

6/29/2018

1  THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POUCIES
ELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING .INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: -If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the.policy(io$) must bo endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on this ccrtiricato does not confer rights to the
certificate holder In lieu of such ondorsement(8).

PRODUCER

FIAI/Cross Insurance

1100 Elm Street

Manchester MB 03101

Karen Shaughnessy

<603)669-3210 Kg ,601,

ADmkss- kshaughnes sy6 cros sagency. com
INSURERIS) AFFOROIMG COVERAGE NAICd

INSURER A :Techn61oav Ins. Co. 42376

INSURED

Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc

30 Exchange Street

Berlin NH 03570

INSURERB^esco Ins. Co. 25011•

INSURERCGranite State Health Care and Human'

INSURER 0:

INSURER E:

INSURER F;

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:18-19 All lines w/prof REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT VMTH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.
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Federal Clauses

Fly America Requirements - Applicability - alt contracts involving transportation of persons or property, by air between the U.S. ar»d/or places
outside the U.S. These requirements do rK)t apply to micro-purchases ($10,000 or less, except for construction contracts over $2,000). Contractor shall
comply with 49 USC 40118 (the "Fty America" Act) in accordance with General Services Administration regulations 41 CFR 301-10, stating that redpienls
arid subredpients of Federal funds and their contractors are required to use US Flag air carriers for US Govemmentfinanced international air travel and
transportation of their personal effects or property, to the extent such service is available, unless travel by foreign air carrier is a rrratter of necessity, as
defined by the Fly America Act. Contractor shall submit, if a foreign air carrier was used, an appropriate certification or memorandum adequately explaining
why service by a US flag air carrier was not available or why it was necessary to use a foreign air carrier and shall, in any event, provide a certificate of
compliance with ttie Fly America requirements. Contractor shall include the requirements of this section in all subcontra^ that rrray involve interrratiorral air
transportation.

Charter Bus Requirements - Applicability - Operational Service Contracts. These requirements do not apply to micro-purchases ($10,000 or
less, except (or construction contracts over $2,000). Contractor shall comply with 49 USC 5323(d) and (g) and 49 CFR 604, which state that recipients and
subredpients of FTA assistance may provide charier service for transportation projects that uses equipment or fadlities acquired with Federal assistance
authorized ur>der the Federal transit laws (except as permitted by 49 CFR 604.2), or under 23 U.S.C. 133 or 142, only in compliance with those laws and
FTA regulations, "Ctiarter Service," 49 CFR part 604, the terms and conditions of which are incorporated herein by reference.

School Bus Requirements - Applicability - Operational Service Contracts. These requirements do not apply to micro-purchases ($10,000 or
less, except for construction contracts over $2,000). Pursuant to 69 USC 5323(0 or (g) as amended by MAP-21. 23 USC 133, 23 USC 142, and 49 CFR
605, redpients and subredpients of FTA assistance shall not engage in school bus operations exdusively for transportation of students and school
personnel in competition with private school bus operators unless qualifled under spedfied exemptions. When operating exdusive school txJS service under
an allowable exemption, redpients and subredpients shall not use federally funded equipment, vehides, or fadlities. Violations. If a Redpient or any Third
Party Partidpant that has operated school Ixjs service in violation of FTA's School Biis laws and regulations, FTA may: (1) Require the Recipient or Third
Party Partidpant to take such remedial measures as FTA considers apprc^riate, or (2) Bar the Redpient or Third Parly Partidpant from receiving Federal
transit funds.

Energy Conservation - Applicability - All Contracts except micro-purchases ($10,000 or less, except for constnjciion contracts over $2,000)
Contractor shall comply with mandatory standards and polides relating to energy efficiency, stated in the state energy conservation plan issued in
compliance with the Energy Policy & Cortservation Act.

Clean Water - Applicability - All Contracts and Subcontracts over $250,000. Contractor shall comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations
issued pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 USC 1251 et seq. Contractor shall report each violation to the redpient and
understands and agrees that the redpient shall, in turn, report each violation as required to FTA and the appropriate EPA Regional Office. Contractor shall
indude these requirements in each subcontract exceedir>g $250,000 financed in whole or in part with FTA assistance.

Lobbying - Applicability - Construction/Architectural and Engineering/Acquisition of Rolling Stock/Professional Service Contract/Operational Service
Contract/Turnkey contracts over $250,000 Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, 31 U.S.C. 1352, as amended by the Lobbying Oisdosure Act of 1995, P.L. 104-
65 (to be codified at 2 U.S.C. § 1601, el seq.] - Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $250,000 or more shall file the certification required by 49 CFR
part 20, "New Restrictions on Lobbying." Ea(^ tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or
organization for influendng or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an
employee of a memtrer of Cor>gress in connection with obtaining any Federal contracL grant or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Each tier shall

. also disclose the name of any registrant under the Lobbying Oisdosure Act of 1995 who has made lobbying contacts on its behalf with non-Federal funds
with respect to that Federal contract, grant or award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Such disdosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the redpient.

Access to Records and Reports - Applicability - As shown beiow. These requirements do not apply to micro-purchases ($10,000 or less,
except for construction contracts over $2,000) The foliowing access to records requirements apply to this Contract;

1. Where the purchaser is not a State but a local government ar>d is an FTA recipient or a subgrantee of FTA recipient in accordance wiih 49 CFR
16.36(1), contractor shall provide the purchaser, the FTA, the US Comptroller General or their authorized representatives access to any books,
documents, papers and contractor records which are pertinent to this contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and
tmnscriptions. Contractor shall also, pursuant to 49 CFR 633.17, provide authorized FTA representatives, induding any PMO contractor, access to
contractor's records and construction sites pertaining to a capital project, deftned at 49 USC 5302(a)1, which is receiving FTA assistance through the
programs descritted at 49 USC 5307,5309 or 5311.

2. Where the purchaser is a State and is an FTA redpient or a suk>grantee of FTA redpient in accordance with 49 CFR 633.17, contractor shall provide
the purchaser, authorized FTA representatives, induding any PMO Contractor, access to contractor's records and corxstruclion sites pertaining to a

' capital project, defined at 49 USC 5302(a)1, which receives FTA assistance through the programs described at 49 USC 5307, 5309 or 5311. By
definition, a capital project exdudes contracts of less than the simplified acquisition threshold currently set at $250,000.

3. Where the purchaser enters into a negotiated contract for other than a small purchase or under the simplified acquisition threshold and is an institution
of higher education, a hospital or other non-profit organization and is an FTA redpient or a subgrantee of FTA redpient in accordance with 49 CFR
19.48, contractor shall provide the purchaser, the FTA, the US Comptroller General or their authorized representatives, access to any books,
documents, papers and record of the
contractor which are directly pertinent to (his contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions.

4. Where a purchaser which is an FTA redpient or a subgrantee of FTA redpient in accordance with 49 USC 5325(a) enters into a contract for a capital
project or improvement (defined at 49 USC 5302(a)1) through other than competitive bidding, contractor shall make.availade records related to the
contract to the purchaser, the Secretary of USOOT and the US Comptroller General or any aulfiorized officer or employee of any of tfiem for the
purposes of conducting an audit and inspection.

5. Contractor Shall permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transchptions as reasonably
needed.

6. Contractor shall maintain all txxsks, records, accounts and reports required under this contract for a period of not less than three (3) years after the
date of termination or expiration of this contract, except in the event of litigation or settlement of daims arising from the performance of this contract, in
which case contractor agrees to maintain same until the redpient, FTA Administrator, US Comptroller General, or any of their authorized
representatives, have disposed of all such litigation, appeals, daims or exceptions related thereto. Re: 49 CFR 18.39(1X11).

FTA does not require the indusion of these requirements in subcontracts.

Federal Changes - Applicability - All Contracts except micro-purchases ($10,000 or less, except for construction contracts over $2,000) Contractor
shall comply with all applicable FTA regulations, polides, procedures and directives, induding without limitation those listed directly or by reference in the
Master Agreement tjetween the redpient and FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the term of the contract. Contractor's
failure to comply shall constitute a material breach of the contract.



Clean Air - Applicability - All contracts over $250,000.1) Contractor shall comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations pursuant to the
Clean Air Act, 42 USC 7401 et seq. Contractor shall report each violation to the recipient and understands and agrees that the recipient will, in turn, report
each violation as required to FTA and the appropriate EPA Regional Office. 2) Contractor shall include these requirements in each sutKontract exceeding
$250,000 financed in whole or in part with FTA assistance. '

Recycled Products - Applicability - All contracts for items designated by the EPA, when the purchaser or contractor procures $10,000 or more of
one of these items during the current or previous fiscal year using Federal funds. The contractor agrees to comply with all the requirements of Section 6002
of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), as amended (42 U.S.C. 6962), including but not limited to the regulatory provisions of 40 CFR
Part 247, and Executive Order 12873. as they apply to the procurement of the items designated in Subpart B of 40 CFR Part 247,

Contract Work Hours & Safety Standards Act - Applicability - Contracts over $250,000

(1) Overtime requirements • No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work which may require or involve the employment
of latx)rers or mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in
excess of 40 hours in such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the basic
rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in such workweek.

(2) \/iolation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages • In the event of any \nolation of the clause set forth in para. (1) of this section, contractor and
any subcontractor responsible therefore shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable for liquidated
damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and guards, employed
in violation of the clause set forth in para. (1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each caiendar day on which such individual was required or permitted
to work in excess of the standard workweek of 40 hours without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in para. (1) of this
section.

(3) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages - the redpienl shall upon its own action or upon written request of USOOL withhold or cause
to be withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work perfomied by contractor or subcontractor under any such contract or any other Federal
contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to the Contract Work Hours & Safety Standards Act, which is
held by the same prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to t>e necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or sut>contractor for
unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in para. (2) of this section.

(4) Subcontracts - Contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any sutxxsntracts the clauses set forth in this section and also a dause requiring the
' subcontractors to indude these dauses in any lower tier subcontracts. Prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any sutxontractor or
lower tier subcontractor with the dauses set forth in this section.

No Government Obligation to Third Parties - Applicability - Aii contracts except micropurchases ($10,000 or less, except for construction
contracts over $2,000)

(1) The redpient and contractor acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any concumence by the US Govemment in or approval of the solicitation
or award of the underlying contract, absent the express written consent by the US Govemment, the US Govemment is not a party to this contract and
shall not tie sutiject to any obligations or liabilities to the redpient, the contractor, or any other party (whether or not a party to that contract) pertaining to
any matter resultir>g from the underlying contract.

(2) Contrador agrees to indude the above dause in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with FTA assistance. It is further agreed that the
clause shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to its provisions.

Program Fraud and False or Fraudulent Statements or Related Acts - Applicability - All contracts except micro-purchases
($10,000 or less, except for constnjction contracts over $2,000)

(1) Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, as amended, 31 USC 3801 et seq. and USDOT
regulafions. 'Program Fraud Civil Remedies,* 49 CFR 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this project. Upon execution of the underlying contract,
contractor certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to
the underlying contract or FTA assisted project for which this contract work is being performed. In addition to other penalties that may be applicable,
contractor further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent daim, statement, submittal. or certification, the
US Govemment reserves the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act (1986) on contractor to the extent the US
Govemment deems appropriate.

(2) If contractor makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent daim. statement, submittal, or certification to the US Government under a
contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with FTA assistance under the authority of 49 USC 5307, the Govemment reserves
the right to impose the penalties of 18 USC 1001 and 49 USC 5307(nX1)on contractor, to the extent the US Govemment deems appropriate. (3)
Contractor shali indude the above two dauses in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with FTA assistance. The dauses shall not t>e modified,
except to identify the subcontractor v/ho will be subject to the provisions.

J



Termination - Applicability - All Contracts over $10,000. except contracts with nonprofit organizations and Institutions of higher learning, where the
threshold is S250.000

a. Termination for Convenience (General Provision) the recipient may terminate this contract, in whole or in part, at any time by written notice to
contractor when it is in the recipient's best interest. Contraaor shall be paid its costs, including contract dose-out costs, and profit on work performed
up to the time of termination. Contractor shall promptly submit its termination daim to the recipient. If contractor is in possession of any of the
recipient's property, contractor shall account for same, and dispose of it as the redpient directs.

b. Termination for Default [Breacfi or Cause] (General Provision) If contractor does not deliver items in accordance with the contract delivery schedule,
or. if the contract is for services, and contractor fails to perform in the manner called for in the contract, or if contractor fails to comply with any other
provisions of the contrad, the redpient may terminate this contract for default. Termination shall be effected by serving a notice of termination to
contractor setting forth the manner in which contractor is In default. Contractor shall only be paid the contract price for supplies delivered and accepted,
or for services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in the contract. If it is later determined by the redpient that contractor
had an excusable reason for not performing, such as a strike, fire, or flood, events which are not the fault of or are beyond the control of contractor, the
redpient. after setting up a new delivery or performance schedule, may allow contractor to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for
convenience.

c. Opportunity to Cure (Gerteral Provision) the redpient in its sole discretion may. in the case of a termination for breach or default, allow contractor an
appropriately short period of time In which to cure the defect; In such case, the notice of termination shall state the time period in which cure is
permitted and other appropriate conditions If contractor fails to remedy to the recipient's satisfaction the breach or default or any of the terms,
covenants, or conditions of this Contract within ten (10) days after receipt by contractor or written notice from the recipient setting forth the nature of

' said breach or default, the redpient shall have the right to terminate the Contract without any further obligation to contractor. Any such termination for
default shall not in any way operate to produde the redpient from also pursuing all available remedies against contractor and Its sureties for said breach
or default.

d. Waiver of Ren>edies for any Breach In the event that the redpient elects to waive its remedies for any breach by contractor of any covenant, term or
condition of this Contract, such waiver by the redpient shall not limit Its remedies for any succeeding breach of that or of any other term, covenant, or
condition of this Contract.

e. Termination for Convenience (Professional or Transit Service Contracts) the redpient, by written notice, may terminate this contract, in whole or in
part, whon it ic in tho rodpiont'c intoroct. If the oontroot ic torminotcd, the redpient oholl be lioble only for poymont undor tho poymont providona of thia
contract for services rendered before the effective date of termination.

f. Termination for Default (Supplies and Service) If contractor fails to deliver supplies or to perform the services within the time spedfied in this contract
or any extension or if the contractor fails to comdy with any other provisions of this contract, the redpient may terminate this contract for default. The
redpient shall terminate by deliverir>g to contractor a notice of termination spedfying the nature of default Contractor shall only be paid the contract
price for supplies delivered and accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner or performance set forth in this contract. If. after
termination for failure to fulfill contract ot>ligations, it is determined that contractor was not in default, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the
same as if termination had been issued for the redpient's convenience.

g. Termination for Default (Transportation Services) If contractor fails to pick up the commodities or to perform the services, induding delivery senrices,
within the time spedfied in this contract or any extension or if contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of this contract, the redpient may
terminate this contract for default. The redpient shall terminate by delivering to contractor a notice of termination spedf^ng the nature of default.
Contractor shall only be paid the contract price for services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in this contract.
If this contract is terminated while contractor has possession of the redpient goods, contractor shall, as directed by the recipient, protect and preserve
the goods until surrendered to the redpient or its agent Contractor and the redpient shall agree on payment for the preservation and protection of
goods. Failure to agree on an amount shall be resolved under the Dispute dause. If, after termination for failure to fulfill contrad obligations. It is
determined that contractor was not in default, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as if termination had been issued for the
redpient's convenience.

h. Termination for Default (Construdion) If contrador refuses or fails to prosecute the work or any separable part, with the diligence that will insure its
completion within the time specified, or any extension, or fails to complete the work within this lime, or if contractor fails to corhply with any other
provisions of this contract, the redpient may terminate this contract for default, the redpient shall terminate by delivering to contrador a notice of
termination spedfying the nature of default. In this event, the redpient may take over the work and compete it by contrad or otherwise, and may take
possession of and use any materials, appliances, and plant on the work site necessary for completing the work. Contrador and its sureties shall be
liat>le for any damage to the redpient resulting from contrador's refusal or failure to complete the vrork within spedfied time, whether or not contrador's
right to proceed with the work is terminated. This liability indudes any increased costs incumed by the redpient in completing the work.
Contractor's right to proceed shall not be terminated nor shall contractor be charged with damages under this clause if:
1. Delay In completing the work arises from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and wthout the fault or negligence of contrador. Examples of
such causes indude: ads of God, ads of the redpient. acts of another contractor in the performance of a contrad with the redpient. epidemics,
quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes: and
2. Contrador. within 10 days from the beginnir^g of any delay, notifies the redpient in writing of the causes of delay. If in the redpient's judgment, delay is
excusable, the time for compleling the work shall be extended. The redpient's judgment shall be final and condusive on the parties, but subject to
appeal under the Disputes clauses.
If. after termination of contrador's right to proceed, it is determined that contrador was not in default, or that the delay was excusable, the rights and
obligations of the parties will be the same as if termination had been issued for the redpient's convenierKe.

i. Termination for Convenierrce or Default (Architect & Engineering) the redpient may terminate this contrad in whole or in part, for the redpient's
convenience or because of contrador's failure to fulfill contrad obligations. The redpient shall terminate by delivering to contrador a notice of
termination spedfying the nature, extent, and effedive date of termination. Upon receipt of the notice, contractor shall (1) immediately discontinue all
services affected (unless the notice directs otherwise), and (2) deliver to the redpient all data, drawings, spedfications. reports, estimates, summaries,
and other information and materials accumulated in performing this contract, whether completed or in process. If termination is for the redpient's
convenience, it shall make
an equitable adjustment in the contrad price but shall allow no antidpated profit on unperformed services. If termination is for contrador's failure to fulfill
contrad obligations, the redpient may complete the work by contact or otherwise and contractor shall be liable for any additional cost incurred by the
redpient. If, after termination for failure to fulfill contract obligations, it is determined that contrador was not In default, the rights and obligations of the
parties shall be the same as if termination had been issued for the redpient's convenience.

j. Termination for Convenience or Default (Cost-Type Contracts) the redpient may terminate this contrad. or any portion of it. by servirrg a notice or
termination on contrador. The notice shall state v^ether termination is for convenience of the redpient or for default of contrador. If termination is (or
default, the notice shall state the manner in which contrador has failed to perform the requirements of the contract. Contrador shall account for any
property in its possession paid for from funds received from the redpient. or property supplied to contrador by the recipient. If termination is for default,
the redpient may fix the fee. if the contract provides for a fee. to be paid to contractor in proportion to the value, if any. of work performed up to the lime
of termination. Contractor shall promptty submit its termination daim to the redpient and the parties shall negotiate the termination settlement to be paid
to contractor. If termination is (or the redpient's convenience, contractor shall be paid its contrad dose-out costs, and a fee. if the contract provided for
payment of a fee, in proportion to the work performed up to the time of termination. If, after serving a notice of termination for default, the redpient



determines that contractor has an excusabte reason for not performing, such as strike, fire, flood, events which are not the fault of and are beyond the
control of contractor, the recipient, after setting up a new work schedule, may allow contractor to continue work, or treat the lenninalion as a termination
for convenience.

Government-Wide Debarment and Suspension fNonorocurement) - Applicabiltty - Contracts over $25,000 The Recipient agrees
to the following:

(1) It will comply with the requirements of 2 C.F.R. part 180, subpart C, as adopted and supplemented by U.S. DOT regulations at 2 C.F.R. part 1200, which
irrdude the following: (a) It will not enter into any afTBr>gement to participate in the development or implementation of the Project with any Third Party
Participant that is debarred or suspended except as authorized by: 1 U.S. DOT regulations, "Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment," 2 C.F.R. part
1200.2 U.S. 0MB, "Guidelirws to Agencies on Govemmentwide Debarment arxJ Suspension (Nonprocurement)." 2 C.F.R. part 180, including any
amendments thereto, and 3 Executive Orders Nos. 12549 and 12689, "Debarment and Suspension," 31 U.S.C. §6101 note, (b) It will review the U.S. GSA
"System for Award Management," https:// wrww.sam.c^, if required by U.S. DOT regulations. 2 C.F.R. part 1200, and (c) It will include, and require each of
its Third Party Participants to indude, a similar provision in each lower tier covered transaction, ensuring that each lower tier Third Party Partidpant: 1 Will
comply with Federal debarment and suspension requirements, and 2 Reviews the "System for Award Management" at htips://www.sam.gov, if necessary to
comply with U.S. DOT regulations, 2 C.F.R. part 1200, and (2) If the Redpieni suspends, debars, or lakes any similar action against a Third Party
Partidpant or individual, the Redpient will provide immediate written notice to the: (a) FTA Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Redpient is located
or implements the

Project, (b) FTA Project Manager if the Project is administered by an FTA Headquarters Office, or (c) fH'A Chief Counsel,
I

Contracts Involving Federal Privacy Act Requirements - Applicability - when a grantee maintains files on dnjg and alcohol
enforcement actiwties for FTA, and those files are organized so that information could be retrieved by personal identifier, the Privacy Act requirements apply
to all contracts except micro-purchases ($10,000 or less, except for construction contracts over $2,000)
The following requirements apply to the Contractor and its employees that administer any system of records on behalf of the Federal Government under any
contract:

(1) The Contractor agrees to comply with, and assures the compliance of its employees with, the information restrictions and other applicable
requirements of the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. § 552a. Among other things, the Contractor agrees to obtain the express consent of the Federal
Government before the Contractor or its employees operate a system of records on behalf of the Federal Government. The Contractor understands
that the requirements of the Privacy Act, induding the dvil and criminal penalties for violation of that Act, apply to those individuals involved, and that
failure to comply vrith the terms of the Privacy Act may result in termination of the underlying contract.

(2) The Contractor also agrees to indude these requirements in each subcontract to administer any system of records on t>ehalf of the Federal
Government financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.

Civil Rights Requirements - Applicability - Alt contracts except micro-purchases ($10,000 or less, except for constaiction contracts over $2,000)
The following requirements apply to the underlying contract
The Redpient understar>ds and agrees that it must comply with applicable Federal dvil rights laws ar>d regulations, and follow applicable Federal guidance,
except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing. Therefore, unless a Redpient or Program, induding an Indian Tribe or the Tribal Transit
Program, is spedfically exempted from a dvil rights statute, FTA requires compliance with that dvil rights statute, induding compliance with equity in
service:

a. Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs. The Redpient agrees to, and assures that each Third Party Partidpant will, comply
with Federal transil law. 49 U.S.C. § 5332 (FTA's "Nondiscrimination" statute): (1) FTA's "Nondiscrimination" statute prohibits discrimination on the basis
of: (a) Race, (b) Color, (c) Religion, (d) National origin, (e) Sex. (f) Disability, (g) Age, or (h) Gender identity and (2) The FTA "Nondiscrimination" statute's
prohibition against discrimination includes: (a) Exclusion from partidpation, (b) Denial of program benefits, or (c) Discrimination, induding discrimination
in employment or txjsiness opportunity. (3) Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing: (a) General. Follow: 1 The most recent edition of FTA
Circular 4702.1, Title VI Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit
Administration Redpients," to the extent consistent with applicable Federal laws, regulations, and guidance, and 2 Other applicable Federal guidance
that may be issued, txit (b) Exception for the Tribal Transit Program. FTA does not require an Indian Tribe to comply with FTA program-spedfic
guidelines for Title VI when administering its projects furxJed under the Tribal Transil Program.

b. Nondiscrimination - Title VI of the Civil Rights Act. The Redpieni agrees to, and assures that each Third Party Partidpant will: (1) Prohibit
discrimination based on: (a) Race, (b) Color, or (c) National origin, (2) Comply with: (a) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. as amended, 42 U.S.C. §
2000d el seq., (b) U.S. DOT regulations, "Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation - Effectuation of Title
VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964,"!49 C.F.R, part 21, and (c) Federal transit law, spedfically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, as stated in the preceding section a, and
(3) Except as FTA determines otherwise in writing, follow: (a) The most recent edition of FTA Circular 4702.1, Title VI and Title Vl-Dependent Guidelines
for Federal Transit Administration Redpients," to the extent consistent with applicable Federal laws, regulations, arxl guidance, (b) U.S. DOJ.
'Guidelines for the enforcement of Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964," 28 C.F.R, § 50.3, and (c) Other applicable Federal guidance that may be issued.

c. Equal Employment Opportunity. (1) Federal Requirements and Guidance. The Redpient agrees to. and assures that each Third Party Partidpant will,
prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex. or national origin, and: (a) Compfy with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., (b) Fadlitate compliance with Executive Order No. 11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity," as amerxled by
Executive Order No. 11375, "Amending Executive Order No. 11246. Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity." 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, (c) Comply
with Federal transit law, spedfically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, assisted in section a. and (d) Comply with FTA Circular 4704.lother applicable EEO laws and
regulations, as provided in Federal guidance, induding lawrs and regulations prohibiting discrimination on the basis of disability, except as the Federal
Government determines otherwise in writing. (2) General. The Redpient agrees to: (a) Ensure that applicants for employment are employed and
employees are treated during employment without discrimination on the basis of their 1 Race, 2 Color. 3 Religion, 4 Sex. 5 Disability, 6 Age, or 7
National origin, (b) Take affirmative action that indudes, but is not limited to: 1 Recnjitment advertising. 2 Recruitment. 3 Employment, 4 Rates of pay. 5
Other forms of compensation. 6 Selection for training, irtcluding apprenticeship. 7 Upgrading. 8 Transfers, 9 Demotions, 10 Layoffs, and 11
Terminations, but (b) Indian Tribe. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, exempts Indian Tribes under the definition of "Employer*. (3)
Equal Employment Opportunity Requirements for Construction Activities. In addition to the foregoir>g, when undertaking "construction" as recognized by
the U.S. Department of Labor (U.S. OOL), the Redpient agrees to comply, and assures the compliance of each Third Party Partidpant. with: (a) U.S.
DOL regulations. "Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs. Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor," 41 C.F.R. chapter 60, and
(b) Executive Order No. 11246. "Equal Employment Opportunity." as amertded by Executive Order No. 11375. "Amending Executive Order No. 11246.
Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity." 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note,

d. Disadvaniaged Business Enterprise. To the extent authorized by applicable Federal law, the Redpient agrees to fadlitate, and assures that each
Third Party Partidpant will fadlitate, participation by small business concerns owned and controlled by sodally and economically disadvaniaged
individuals, also referred to as "Disadvaniaged Business Enterprises" (DBEs), in the Project as follows: 1) Requirements. The Redpient agrees to
comply with: (a) Section 1101(b) of Map-21, 23 U.S.C. § 101 note, (b) U.S. DOT regulations, 'Partidpation by Disadvaniaged Business Enterprises in
Department of Transportation Financial Assistance Programs," 49 C.F.R. part 26. and (c) Federal transit law. spedfically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, as stated in
section a, (2) Assurance. As required by 49 C.F.R. § 26.13(a), (b) DBE Program Requirements. Redpients receiving planning, capital and/or operating



assistance that will award prime third party contracts exceeding $250,000 in a Federal flscal year must: 1 Have a QBE program meeting the
requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26, 2 Impiement a D8E program approved by FTA. and 3 Establish an annual OBE partidpatjon goal, (c) Special
Requirements for a Transit Vehicle Manufacturer. The Recipient understands and agrees that each transit vehicle manufacturer, as a condition of beir>g
authorized to bid or propose on FTA-assisted transit vehicle procurements, must certify that it has complied with the requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26,
(d) the Redpienl provides assurance that: The Recipient shall rtot discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the award and
performance of any OOT-assisted contract or in the administration of its QBE program or the requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26. The Recipient shall
take all necessary ar>d reasonable steps under 49 C.F.R. part 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of DOT-assisted
contracts. The Recipient's DBE program, as required by 49 C.F.R, part 26 and as approved by DOT. is incorporated by reference in this agreement.
Implementation of this program is a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a violation of this agreement. Upon notification to
the Recipient of its failure to cany out its approved program, the Department may impose sanctions as provided for under 49 C.F.R. part 26 and may. in
appropriate cases, refer the matter for enforcement under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and/or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 et
seq., (2) Exception for the Tribal Transit Program. FTA exempts Indian tjit>es from the Disadvantaged Business Enterprise regulations at 49 C.F.R. part
26 under Map-21and previous legislation.

e. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex. The Recipient agrees to comply with Federal prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of sex. including:
(1) Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, asamer>ded, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.. (2) U.S. DOT regulations. "Nondiscrimination on the Basis of
Sex in Education Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance," 49 C.F.R. part 25. and (3) Federal transit law. specifically 49 U.S.C. §
5332, as stated in section a.

f. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age. The Recipient agrees to comply with Federal prohibitions against discrimination on tho basis of age. including:
(1) The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA), 29 U.S.C. §§ 621 - 634. which prohibits discrimination on the basis of age, (2) U.S. Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC) regulations. 'Age Discrimination in Employment Act." 29 C.F.R. part 1625. which implements the
ADEA, (3) The Age Discrimination Act of 1975. as amended. 42 U.S.C. § 6101 el seq.. which prohibits discrimination against individuals on the basis of
age in the administration of programs or
activities receiving Federal ̂ nds. (4) U.S. Health and Humian Services regulations. "Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age in Programs or Activities
Receiving Federal Finartdaf Assistance." 45 C.F.R. part 90. which implements the Age Discrimirtation Act of 1975. and (5) Federal transit law.
specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332. as stated in section a.

g. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability. The Recipient agrees to comply with the following Federal prohibitions pertaining to discrimination
against seniors or individuals with disabilities: (1) Federal laws, including: (a) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §
794. which prnhihils riiRcriminatinn nn the hn^is nf rikahiltfy in the arimlnittralirin nf fpriprally fiinri(»ri programs rv artfivifies. (h) The Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.. which requires that accessible facilities and services be made available to
individuals with disabilities, 1 General. Titles I. II. and III ot the ADA apply to FTA Recipients, but 2 Indian Tribes. While I ities 11 and III of the ADA apply to
Indian Tribes. Title I of the ADA exempts Indian Tril^es from the definition of "emplover." (c) The Architectural Barriers Act of 1968. as amended. 42

U.S.C. § 4151 et seq.. which requires that buildings and public accommodations be accessible to individuals with disabilities, (d) Federal transit law.
specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5332, which now includes disability as a prohibited basis for discrimination, and (e) Other applicable laws and amendments
pertaining to access lor elderly indtviduals or individuals with disabilities. (2) Federal regulations, including: (a) U.b. L*<J I regulations.' I ransportaiion

Services for Individuals with Disabilities (ADA),* 49 C.F.R. part 37, (b) U.S. DOT regulations, 'Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in Programs
and Actrvities Receiving or Benefiting from Federal Financial Assistance." 49 C.F.R. part 27. (c) U.S. DOT regulations. Transportation for Individuals
with Disabilities: Passenger Vessels." 49 C.F.R. part 39. (d) Joint U.O. Architectural and Transportation Darriers Compliance Doard (U.C. ATDCD) and
U.S. DOT regulations, "Americans With DisabiliUes (ADA) Accessibility Specifications for Transportation Vehicles," 36 C.F.R. part 1'192 and 49 C.F.R.
part 38. (e) U.S. DOJ regulations. "Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in State and Local Government Services." 28 C.F.R. part 35. (Q U.S.
DOJ regulations. 'Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability by Public Accommodations and in Commercial Facilities," 28 C.F.R. part 36. (g) U.S.
EEOC, "Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment Provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act." 29 C.F.R. part 1630, (h) U.S. Federal
Communications Commission regulations. "Telecommunications Relay Services and Related Customer Premises Equipment for Persons with
Disabilities," 47 C.F.R. part 64. Subpart F. (i) U.S. ATBCB regulations. "Electronic and Information Technology Accessibility Standards." 36 C.F.R. part
1104. and (j) FTA rogubtionc, Transportation for Elderly and Handicapped Persons," 49 C.F.R. part 600. arwJ (3) Other applicable Federal dvil righb
and norKliscrimination guidance,

h. Drug or Alcohol Abuse • (Confidentiality arxl Other Ci>ril Rights Protections. The Recipient agrees to comply vrilh the confidentiality and civil rights
protections of: (1) The Drug Abuse OfficeandTreatmeni Act of 1972. as amended. 21 U.S.C. § 1101 et seq.. (2) The (Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse
and Alcoholism Prevention. Treatment and Rehabilitation Act of 1970. as amended. 42 U.S.C. § 4541 et seq.. ar>d (3) The Public Health Ser>ric8 Act, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 290dd - 290dd-2.

i. Access to Services for People with Limited English Proficiency. Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, the Recipient
agrees to promote accessibility of public transportation services to people whose understanding of English is limited by following: 1) Executive Order
No. 13166. "improving Access to Services lor Persons with Limited English Proficiency," August 11, 2(XX}. 42 U.S.C. § 2(XX)d-1 note, and (2) U.S. DOT
Notice. 'DOT Policy Guidance Concerning Recipients' Responsibilities to Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Persons," 70 Fed. Reg. 74087. December
14.2005.

j. Other Nortdiscrimination Laws. Except as the Federal (3ovcmmeni determines otherwise in writing, the Recipient agrees to; (1) Comply with other
appiicable Federal nondiscrimination laws and regulations, and (2) Follow Federal guidance prohitxting discrimination.

k. Remedies. Remedies for failure to comply with applicable Federal Civil Rights laws and Federal regulations may be enforced as provided in those
Federal laws or Federal regulations.

Breaches and Dispute Resolution - Applicability - All contracts over $250.(KK) Disputes arising in the performance of this contract which are
not resolved by agreement of the parties shall be decided in writing by the recipient's authorized representative. This decision shall be final and conclusive
unless within ten days from the date of receipt'of its copy, contractor mails or otherwise furnishes a written appeal to the recipient's CEO. in connection with
such appeal, contractor shall be afforded an importunity to be heard and to offer evidence in support of its position. The decision of the recipient's CEO shall
be binding upon contractor and contractor shall abide by the decision. FTA has a vested interest in the settlement of any violation of Federal taw including the
False Claims Act. 31 U.S.C. § 3729.

Performance During Dispute - Unless otherwise directed by the recipient, contractor shall continue performance under this contract while matters in dispute
are being resolved. Claims for Damages • Should either party to the contract suffer injury or damage to person or property because of any act or omission of
the patty or of any of his employees, agents or others for whose acts he is legally liable, a claim for damages therefore shall be made in writing to such other
party within ten days after the first observance of such injury or damage.

Remedies - Unless this contract provides otherwise, all dalms, counterclaims, disputes and other matters in questiw between the recipient and contractor



arising out of or relating to this agreement or its breach will be decided by arbitration If the parties mutually agree, or in a court of competent jurisdiction
within the residing State.

Rights and Remedies • Duties and obligatiortt imposed by the contract documents and the rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to
and rK>l a limitation of any duties. ot>ligations. rtghls and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. No action or failure to act by the recipient or
contractor shall constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them under the contract, nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute an
approval of or acquiescence in any breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.

Transit Employee Protective Provisions-Appiicabllitv - Contracts for transit operations except micro-purchases ($10,000 or less, except
for construction contracts over $2,000)

Public Transportation Employee Protective Arrangements. The Recipient agrees that 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) requires employee protective arrangements to be
in place as a condition of award of FTA assistance made available or appropriated for FTA programs involving public transportation operations. U.S. DOL
recognizes the following categories of arrar>gemenls:

(1) U.S. DOL Certification. When its Project involves public transportation operations and is
financed with funding made available or appropriated for 49 U.S.C. §§ 5307, 5309, 5312, 5337, or 5339, as amended by Map-21, or former 49 U.S.C. §§
5308. 5309. 5312, or other provisions of law as required by the Federal Government, U.S. DOL must provide a Certification of employee protective
arrangements before FTA may provide financial assistance for the Project. Therefore, the Redpienl understands and agrees, and assures that any Third
Party Participant providing puWic transportation operations will agree, that: (a) It must carry out the Project as provided in its U.S. DOL Certification, which
contains the terms and conditions that U.S. DOL has determined to be fair and equitable to protect the interests of any employees affected by the Project,
(b) It must comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b), and any future amendments thereto, (c) It will follow the U.S. DOL guidelines, "Guidelines, Section 5333(b},
Federal Transit Law,* 29 C.F.R. part 215, except as U.S. DOL determines otherwise in writing, (d) It must comply with the terms and conditions of the U.S.
DOL certification of public transportation employee protective arrangements for the Project, which certification is dated as identified on the Underlying
Agreement, indudirtg: 1 Alternative comparable arrangements U.S. DOL has specified for the Project, 2 Any revisions U.S. DOL has specified for the
ProjecL or 3 Both, and (e) It must comply with the following documents and provisions incorporated by reference in and made part of the Underlying
Agreement for the Project: 1 The U.S. DOL certification of public transportation employee protective arrangements for the Projed, which certification is
dated as identified on the Underlying Agreement. 2 The docurrrenls dted in that U.S. DOL certification for the Project. 3 Any alternative comparable
arrangements that U.S. DOL has specified for the Project, and 4 Any revisions that U.S. DOL has specified for the Project.
(2) Speciat Warranty. When its Project involves public transportation operations, and is financed with funding made available or appropriated for 49 U.S.C. §
5311, as amended by Map-21, for former 49 U.S.C. § 5311 in qffect in FY 2012, or a previous fiscal year, or for section 3038 of TEA-21, as amended by
section 3039 of SAFETEA-LU, U.S. DOL will provide a Special Warranty for those projects,- including projects under the Tribal Transit Program. Therefore,
the Recipient understands and agrees, and assures that any Third Party Participant providing public transportation operations will agree, that: (a) It must
comply with Federal transit laws, specifically 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b), (b) Fdlow the U.S. DOL guidelines, "Guidelines, Section 5333(b), Federal Transit Law," 29
C.F.R. part 215, except as U.S. DOL determines otherwise in writing, (c) It wiP comply with the U.S. DOL Special Wananty for its Project that is most current
on the date when it executed the Underlying Agreement, and documents cited therein, including; 1 Any alternative comparable arrarrgements U.S. DOL has
specified for the Project. 2 Any revisions U.S. DOL has specified for the Project, or 3 Both, and (d) It will comply with the following documents and provisions
incorporated by reference in and made part of the Underlying Agreement: 1 The U.S. DOL Special Warranty for its Project, 2 Documents cited in that Special^
Warranty, 3 Alternative comparable arrangements U.S. DOL specifies for the Project, and 4 Any revisions that U.S. DOL has specified (or the Prqect, and
(3) Special Arrangements for 49 U.S.C. § 5310 Projects. The Recipient urrderstands and agrees, and assures that any Third Party Participant providing
public transportation operations will agree, that although pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 5310, arrd forrper 49 U.S.C. §§ 5310 or 5317, FTA has determined that it
was not "necessary or appropriate' to apply the conditions of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) to Subredpients participating in the program to provide public
transportation for seniors (elderly individuals) and individuals with disat>ilities, FTA reserves the right to make the following exceptions: (a) FTA will make
case-by-case determinations of the applicability of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) for all transfers of fundirtg authorized
under title 23, United States Code (flex funds), and (b) FTA reserves the right to make other exceptions as K deems appropriate.

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) - Applicability - Contracts over $10,000 awarded on the basis of a bid or proposal offering to
use OBEs

a. This contract is subject to the requirements of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 26, Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in
Department of Transportation Financial Assistance Programs. The national goal for participation of Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE) is
10%. The recipient's overall goal for DBE participation is listed elsewhere. If a separate contract goal for DBE participation has been established for
this procurement, it is listed elsewhere.

b. The contractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry
out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of this contract. Failure by the contractor to carry out these
requirements is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the municipal
corporation deems appropriate. Each subcontract the contractor signs with a subcontractor must include the assurance in this paragraph (see 49
CFR 26.13(b)).

c. If a separate contract goal has been established, Bidders/offerors are required to document sufficient DBE participation to meet these goals or,
alternatively, document adequate good faith efforts to do so. as provided for in 49 CFR 26.53.

d. If no separate contract goal has been established, the successful biddcr/offeror will be required to report its DBE participation obtained through race-
neutral means throughout the period of performance.

e. The contractor is required to pay its subcontractors performing work related to Ihts contract for satisfactory performance of that work no later than 30
days after the contractor's receipt of payment for that work from the recipient. In addition, the contractor may not hold retainage from its
subcontractors or must return any retainage payments to those subcontractors within 30 days after the subcontractor's work related to this contract is
satisfactorily completed or must return any retainage payments to those subcontractors within 30 days after incremental acceptance of the
subcontractor's work by the recipient and contractor's receipt of the panial retainage payment related to the subcontractor's work.

f. The contractor must promptly notify the recipient whenever a DBE subcontractor performing work related to this contract is terminated or fails to
complete its work, and must make good faith efforts to engage another DBE subcontractor to perform at least the same amount ol work. The
contractor may not terminate any DBE subcontractor and perform that work through its own forces or those of an affiliate without prior written consent
of the recipient.

Prompt Payment - Applicability - All contracts except micro-purchases ($3,500 or less, except
for construction contracts over $2,000)

The prime contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor under this prime contract for satisfactory performance of its contract no later than 30 days from the
receipt of each payment the prime contract receives from the Recipient. The prime contractor agrees further to return retainage payments to each
subcontractor within 30 days after the subcontractors work is satisfactorily completed. Any delay or postponement of payment from the above referenced
time frame may occur only for good cause following written approval of the Recipient. This dause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontracts.

Incorporation of Federal Transit Administration fFTA) Terms - Applicability - All contracts except micro-purchases ($10,000 or
less, except for construction contracts over $2,000)

The piecediiig ptovi&ioits include. In pail, certain Standard Terms & Conditions required by U3D0T, whether or not expressly stated in the preceding



contract provisions. All USDOTrequired contractual provisions, as stated in FTA Circular 4220.1 F, are hereby incorporated by reference. Anything to the
contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this
Agreement. The contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with any request that would cause the recipient to be in
violation of FTA terms and conditions.

Drug & Alcohol Abuse and Testing - Applicability - Operational service contracts except micro-purchases ($10,000 or less, except for
construction contracts over $2,000)

The Contractor agrees to comply with the following Federal substance abuse regulations; a. Drug-Free Workplace. U.S. DOT regulations, "Drug-Free
Workplace Requirements (Grants),' 49 C.F.R. Part 32, that implements the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 as amended, 41 U.S.C. §§ 8103 et seq., and
2 CFR part 182, b. Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use. FTA Regulations, "Prevention of Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use in Transit Operations,'
49 use 5331, as amended by Map-21,49 CFR part 40. 49 USC chapter 53,49 CFR Part 655. to the extent applicable.



other Federal Requirements:

Full and Open Competition - in accordance wih 49 U.S.C. $ 5325(h) all procurement iransactions shall be conducted in a manner that provides
full and open competition.

Prohibition Against Exclusionary or Discriminatory Specifications - Apart from inconsistent requirements imposed by Federal
statute or regulations, the contractor shall comply with the requirements of 49 USC 5323(h)(2) by refraining from using any FTA assistance to support
procurements using exclusionary or discriminatory speciHcalions.

Conformance with ITS National Architecture • CJoniractor shall conform, to the extent applicable, to the National intelligent Transportation
Standards architecture as required by
SAFETEA-LU Section 5307(c), 23 U.S.C. Section 512 note arxJ follow the provisions of FTA Notice, "FTA National Architecture Policy on Transit Projects," 66
Fed. Rcg.1455 ctseq., January 8, 2001, and any other implementing directives FTA may issue at a later date, except to the extent FTA determines otherwise
in writing.

Access Requirements for Persons with Disabilities - Contractor shall comply with 49 use 5301(d), stating Federal policy that the
elderly and persons with disabilities have the same rights as other persons to use mass transportation services and facilities and that special efforts shall be
made in planning and designing those senrices and facilities to implement that policy. Contractor shall also comply with ail applicable requirements of Sec.
504 of the Rehabilitation Act (1973), as amended, 29 USC 794, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of handicaps, and the Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, 42 USC 12101 el seq., which requires that accessible fadiities and services t)e made availaUe to persons with disabilities,
irKludirtg any subsequent amendments thereto.

Notification of FedGral Participation - To the extent required by law, in the anrxMjrKement of any third party contract award for goods and
services (including construction services) having an aggregate value of $500,000 or more, contractor shall spedfy the amount of Federal assistance to be
used in finandng that acquisition of goods and services and to express that amount of Federal assistance as a percentage of the total cost of the third party
contract.

Interest of Members or Delegates to Congress - No members of, or delegates to, the US Congress shall be admitted to any share or part
of this contract nor to any benefit arising therefrom.

/•

Ineligible Contractors and Subcontractors • Any name appearing upon the Coniptroller Generars list of ineligible contractors for federally-
assisted contracts shall be ineligible to act as a subcontractor for contractor pursuant to this contract. If contractor is on the Comptroller General's list of
ineligible contractors (or federally financed or assisted construction, the redpient shall cancel, terminate or suspend this contract.

Other Contract Requirements - To the extent not inconsistent with the foregoing Federal requirements, this contract shall also indude those
standard dauses attached hereto, and shall comply with the recipient's Procurement Guidelines, available upon request from the redpient.

Compliance With Federal Regulations • Any contract entered pursuant to this solldtaiion shall contain the following provisions: All USDOT-
required contractual provisions, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F. are incorporated by reference. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding. FTA
mandated terms shall control in the ̂ ent of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Agreement. Contractor shall rxit perform any ad, fail to perform
any act, or refuse to comply with any grantee request that would cause the redpient to be in violation of FTA terms and conditions. Contractor shall comply
with all applicable FTA regulations, polides, procedures and direcUves, induding. without limitation, those listed directly or incorporated by reference in the
Master Agreement between the redpient and FTA. as may be amended or promulgaled from lime to lime during the term of this contrad. Conlrador's
failure

to so comply shall constitute a material breach of this co.ntrad.

Real Property - Any contrad entered into shall contain the followif>g provisions: Contrador shall at all times comply with ail applicable statutes and
USDOT regulations, polides, procedures and directives governing the acquisKion, use and disposal of real property, induding, but not limited to, 49 CFR
18.31-18.34,49 CFR 19.30-19.37,49 CFR Part 24.49 CFR 5326 as amended by Map-21,49 CFR part 18 or 19,49 USC 5334, applicable FTA Circular
5010, and FTA Master Agreement, as they may be amended or promulgated during the term of this contrad. Conlrador's failure to so comply shall
constitute a material breach of this contract.

Access to Setvices for Persons with Limited English Proficiency - To the extent applicable and except to the extent that FTA
determines otherwise in writing, the Redpient agrees to comply with the policies of Executive Order No. 13166, "Improving Access to Services for Persons
with Limited English Profidency." 42 U.S.C. § 2000d 1 note, and with the provisions of U.S. DOT Notice, 'DOT Guidance to Redpients on Special Language
Services to Limited English Proficient (LEP) Benefidaries," 70 Fed. Reg. 74087, Decemtier 14. 2005.

Environmental Justice - Except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing, the Redpient agrees to promote environmental justice
by following: (1) Executive Order No. 12898, "Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations."
February 11,1994,42 U.S.C. $4321 note, as well as fadlitating compliance with that Executive Order, and (2) DOT Order 5610.2. "Department of
Transportation Actions To Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low.|t>come Populations," 62 Fed. Reg. 18377, April 15, 1997, and (3)
The most recent and applicable edition of FTA Circular 4703.1. "Environmental Justice Policy Guidance for Federal Transit Administration Redpients,"
August 15, 2012, to the extent consistent with applicable Federal laws, regulations, and guidance,

Environmental Protections - Compliance is required with any applicable Federal laws imposing environmental and resource conservation
requirements for the project. Some, but not all. of the major Federal laws that may affect the projed indude: tiic National Environmental Policy Ad of 1969;
the Clean Air Act; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Ad; the comprehensive Environmental response. Compensation and Liability Act; as well as
environmental provisions with Title 23 U.S.C., and 49 U.C. chapter 53. The U.S. EPA. FHWA and other federal agendas may issue other federal regulations
and directives that may affect the projed. Compliance is required with any applicable Federal laws and regulations in effect now or that become effective in
the future.



Geographic Information and Related Spatial Data - Any project activities involving spatial data or geographic information systems
activities financed with l^ederai assistance are required to be consistent with the National Spatial Data Infrastructure promulgated by the Federal Geographic
Data Committee, except to the extent that FTA determines otherwise in writing.

Geographic Preference - All project activities must be advertised without geographic preference, (except in A/E under
certain circumstances, preference for hiring veterans on transit construction projects and geographic-based hiring preferences as proposes to be amended
in2CFR Part 1201 ).

Federal Single Audit Requirements - For state Administered Federally Aid Funded Projects Only Non Federal entitles that expend $750,000 or
more in a year in Federal awards from all sources are required to comply with the Federal Single Audit Act provisions contained in U.S. Office of
Management and Budget (0MB) Circular No. A133, 'Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non Profit Organizations' (replaced with 2 CFR Part '
200,Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards* effective December 26,2014 as applicable). Non
Federal entities that expend Federal awards from a sir>gle source may provide a program specific audit, as defined in the Circular. Non Federal entities that
expend less than the amount above in a year in Federal awards from all sources are exempt from Federal audit requirements for that year, except as noted
in Sec. 215 (a) of OMB Circular A-133 Subpart B-Audits, records must be available for reiriewor audit by appropriate officials of the cognizant Federal
agency the New York Stale Department of Transportation, the New York State Comptrollers Office and the tJ.S. Governmental Accountability Office (GAO).
Non Federal entities are required to submit a copy of all audits, as described above, within 30 days of issuance of audit report, but no later than 9 months
after the end of the entity's fiscal year, to the New York State Department of Transportation, Contract Audit Bureau, 50 Wolf Road, Albany, NY 12232. Unless
a lime extension has fcieen granted by the cognizant Federal Agency and has been filed with the New York State Department of Transportation's Contract
Audit Bureau, failure to comply with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133 may result in suspension or termination of Federal award payments. Catalog of
Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) Identification Number The municipal project sponsor is required to identify in its accounts all Federal awards received
and expended, and the Federal programs under which they were received. Federal program and award identification shall indude, as applicable, the CFDA
title arxl number, award number and

year, name of the Federal agency, and name of the pass through entity.

Veterans Preference - As provided by 49 U.S.C. 5325(k), to the extent practicable, the Recipient agrees and assures that each of its Subrecipients;
(1) Will give a hiring preference to veterans, as defined in 5 U.S.C. § 2106, who have the skills and abilities required to perform construction work required
under a third party contract in connection with a Capital Project supported with federal assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. chapter 53,
and (2) Will not require an employer to give a preference to any veteran over any equally qualified applicant who is a member of any racial or ethnic minority,
female, an individual with a disability, or a former employee.

Safe Operation of Motor Vehicles
a. Seat Belt Use. The Recipieni agrees to imptement Executive Order No. 13043, 'Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States." April 16,1997,23 U.S.C. §
402 rrote, (62 Fed. Reg. 19217), by: (1) Adopting arxl promotirtg orvthe-job seat belt use policies ar>d programs for its employees and other personnel that
operate company-owned vehicles, company-rented vehtdes. or personally operated vehicles, artd (2) Indudirtg a "Seat Bell Use' provision in each third
party agreement related to the Avyard. b. Distracted Driving, Including Text Messaging While Driving. The Recipient agrees to comply with: (1) Executive
Order No. 13513. 'Federal Leadership on Redudrtg Text Messaging While Drivirtg." October 1, 2009.23 U.S.C. § 402 note, (74 F^. Reg. 51225), (2) U.S.
DOT Onder 3902.10, "Text Messaging While Driving." December 30,2009, arrd (3) The following U.S. DOT Special Provision pertaining to Distracted
Driving; (a) Safety. The Recipient agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to decrease crashes caused by distracted drivers, including pdides
to ban text messaging while using an electronic device supplied by an employer, and driving a vehicle the driver owns or rents, a vehicle Recipient owns,
leases, or rents, or a privately-owned vehicle when on official business in connection with the Award, or when performing any work for or on behalf of the
Award, (b) Recipient Size. The Recipieni agrees to cortduct workplace safety initiatives in a manner commensurate with its size, such as establishing new
njles and programs to prohibit text messaging while driving, re-evaluating the existing programs to prohibit text messaging while driving, and providing
education, awareness, and other outreach to employees about the safety risks associated with texting while drhring, and (c) Extension of Provision. The
Recipient agrees to include the preceding Special Provision of section 34.b(3)(a)- (b) of this Master Agreement in its third party agreements, and encourage
its Third Party Partidpanls to comply with this Special Provision, and include this Special Provision in each third party subagreement at each tier supported
with federal assistance.

N

Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) Identification Number - The municipal project sponsor is required to identify in
its accounts all Federal awards received and expended, and the Federal programs under which they were received. Federal program and award
identirication shall include, as applicable, tlic CFDA title and number, award number and year, name of the Federal agency, and name of the pass through
entity,

The CFDA number for the Federal Transit Administration - Nonurtjanized Area Formula (Section 5311) is 20.509. a Recipient
covered by the Single Audit Act Amertdments of 1996 and OMB Circular A-133, 'Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profil Organizations,'
(replaced with 2 CFR Part 200,"Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards' effective December 26,
2014 as applicable) agrees to separately identify the expenditures for Federal awards under the Recovery Act on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal
Awards (SEFA) and the Data Collection Form (SF-SAC) required by OMB Circular A-133. The Recipient agrees to accomplish this by identifying
expenditures for Federal awards made under Recovery Act separately on the SEFA, and as separate rows under Item 9 of Part III on the SF-SAC by CFDA
number, and inclusion of the prefix "ARRA" in identifying the name of the Federal program on the SEFA and as the first characters in Item 9d of Part III on the
SF-SAC.

Organizational Conflicts of Interest - The Recipient agrees that It will not enter into a procurement that involves a real or apparent
organizational conflict of interest described as follows; (1) When It Occurs. An organizational conflict of interest occurs when the Project work, without
appropriate restrictions on certain future activities, results in an unfair competitive advantage; (a) To thai Third Party Participant or another Third Party
Participant performing the Project work, and (b) That impairs that Third Party Participant's objectivity in performing the Project work, or (2) Other. An
organizational conflict of interest may involve other situations resulting in fundamentally unfair competitive conditions, (3) Disclosure Requirements.
Consistent with FTA policies, the Recipient must disclose to FTA. and each of its Subrecipients must disclose to the Recipient; (a) Any instances of
organizational conflict of interest, or (b) Violations of federal criminal law, involving fraud, bribery, or gratuity violations potentially affecting the federal award,
and (4) Failure to Disclose. Failure to make required disclosures can result in remedies for noncompllance, including debarment or suspension.



Federal Certifications

CERTIFICATION AND RESTRICTIONS ON LOBBYING

li, hereby certify (Name and title of official)
On behalf of "Tr* - tMC, that: (Name of Bidder/Company Name)

o No federal appropriated funds have been paid or \vill be F>aid. by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to

influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, and officer or employee of Cor>gress. or an employee of a Member of

Congress in connection with the awardir>g of any federal contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering

into of any cooperaUve agreement. af>d the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or

cooperative agreement.

o If any funds other than federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person influencing or attempting to influence an officer

or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, and officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in

connection with the federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Foim - ILL.

'Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions.

o The urtdersigncd shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including

sub-contracts, sub-grants and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify atxf disdose

accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered into. Sutvntssion of
this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by 3t U.S.C. $ 1352 (as amerxied by the Lobbyirtg Disclosure
Act of 1995). Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a dvil penalty of not less than S10.000 and not more than
t100.000 for oooh cuoh falluro.

The undersigned certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of the contents of the statements submitted on or vMth this certification and
understands that the provisions of 31 tJ.S.C. Section 3801, et seq., are applicatjle thereto.

Name of Bidder/Company Name T<^i -aouATV rcyY\^of^nY AchonJ iKic.
Type or print name ^
Signature of Authorized repn5sentativ^^li^;^y^l>'-<^^-X^ S •— Dale i / ̂  / ^ '
Signature of notary and SEAL

CHRISTINA MORIN, Notary Public
State of New Hampshire

My Commissiof) Expires December 19,2023



GOVERNMENT-WIDE DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION (NONPROCUREMENT)

Instructions for Certtfication: Bv signing and submitting this bid or proposal, the prospective lower tier participant is providing the signed
certification set out beiow.

1. It will compty and facilitate compliance with U.S. DOT regulations, "Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment." 2 CFR part 1200, which
adopts and supplements the U.S. Office of Management and Budget {U.S. 0MB) "Guidelines to Agencies on Govemmentwide Debarment and
Suspension (Nonprocurement)," 2 CFR part 180,

2. To the ttest of its krK)w1edge and belief, that its Principals and Subrecipients at the first tier:

a. Are eligible to participate in covered transactions of any Federal department or agency and are not presently:

1. Detiarred

2. Suspended

3. Proposed for debarment

4. Declared ineligit^c

5. Voluntarily excluded

6. Disqualified

b. Its mariagement has not within a three-year period precedirtg its latest application or proposal been convicted of or had a civil judgment
rendered against any of them for

1. Commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining. 3ttemptir>g to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State,
or local) transaction, or contract urrder a public transaction.

2. Violation of any Federal or State antitrust statute, or

3. Proposed for debarment commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making any
false statement, or receiving stolen property

c. It is not presently Indicted for. or othenMse criminally or dvllly charged by a governmental entity (Federal, Stale, or local) with
commission of any of the offenses listed in the prei^ing subsection 2.b of this Certirication,

d. It has not had one or more public transactions (Federal. State, or local) terminated for cause or default within a three-year period
preceding this Certification,

e. If, at a later time, it receives any information that contradicts the statements of sut»sections 2.a - 2.d above, it will promptly provide that
information to FTA,

f. It will treat each lower tier contract or lower tier subcontract under its Project as a covered lower tier contract for purposes of 2 CFR part
1200 and 2 CFR part 180 if it:

1. Equals or exceeds $25,000,

2. Is for audit services, or

3. Requires the consent of a Federal ofTidal, artd

g. It will require that each covered lower tier contractor artd subcontractor

1. Comply and facilitate compliance with the Federal requirements of 2 CFR parts 180 and 1200, and

2. Assure that each lower tier participant in its Project is not presently declared by any Federal department or agency to be:

a. Debarred from participation in its federally funded Project,

b. Suspended from participation in its federally funded Project,

c. Proposed for debarment from participation in its federally funded Project.

d. Declared ineligible to participate in its federally fur>ded Project,

e. Voluntarily excluded from participation in its federally furrded Project, or

f. Disqualified from participation In Its federally funded Project, and

3. It will provide a written explanation as indicated on a page attached in FTA's TrAMS-Web or the Signature Page if it or any of its principals,
including any of its first tier Subrecipients or its Third Party Participants at a lower tier, is unable to certify compliance with the preceding
statements in this Certification Group.

Certification

Contractor

Signature of Authorized Official ^ Date
Name and Title of Contractor's Authorized Official R



UNIFIED PROTECTIVE ARRANGEMENT

'For Application to Capital and Operating Assistance Projects
PURSUANT TO SECTION 5333(b) OF

TITLE A9 OF THE U.S. CODE, CHAPTER 53
January 3, 2011

The following language shall be made part of the Department of Transportation's contract of assistance with
the Grantee, by reference;

The terms and conditions set forth tjelow shall apply for the protection of the transportation related employees
in the transportation service area of the Project. As a precondition of the release of assistance by the Grantee
to any additional Recipient under the grant, the Grantee shall incorporate this arrangement into the contract of
assistance between the Grantee and the Recipient, by reference, binding the Recipient to these arrangements.

These protective arrangements are intended for the benefit of transit employees in the service area of the
project, who are considered as third-party beneficiaries to the employee protective arrangements incorporated
by reference in the grant contract between the U.S. Department of Transportation and the Grantee, and the
parties to the contract so signify by executing that contract. Transit employees are also third-party
beneficiaries to the protective arrangements incorporated in subsequent contracts of assistance, pursuant to
the Department's certification, between the Grantee and any Recipient. Employees may assert claims through
their representative with respect to the protective arrangements under this provision. This clause creates no
independent cause of action against the United States Government.

The term "service area," as used herein. Includes the geographic area over which the Project is operated and
the area whose population is served by the Project, including adjacent areas affected by the Project. Tlie term
"Union," as used herein, refers to any labor organization representing employees providing public
transportation services in the service area of a Project assisted under the grant, including both employees of
the Recipient and employees of other public transportation prpviders. The term "Recipient," as used herein,
shall refer to any employer(s) receiving transportation assistance under the grant. The term "Grantee," as
used herein, sliall refer to the applicant for assistance; a Grantee which receives assistance is also a Recipient.

(1) The Project shall be carried out in such a manner and upon such terms and conditions as will not
adversely affect employees of the Recipient and of any other surface public transportation provider in the
transportation service area of the Project. It shall be an obligation of the Recipient to assure that any and all
transportation services assisted by the Project are contracted for and operated in such a manner that they do •
not impair the rights and interests of affected employees. The term "Project," as used herein, shall not be
limited to the particular facility, service, or operation assisted by Federal funds, but shall include any changes,
whether organizational, operational, technological, or otherwise, which are a result of the assistance
provided. The phrase "as a result of the Project," shall, when used in this arrangement, include events related
to the Project occurring in anticipation of, during, and subsequent to the Project and any program of
efficiencies or economies related thereto; provided, however, that volume rises and fails of business, or
changes In volume and character of employment brought about solely by causes other than the Project
(including any economies or efficiencies unrelated to the Project) are not within the purview of this
arrangement.

An employee covered by this arrangement, who is not dismissed, displaced or otherwise worsened in
his/her position with regard to employment as a result of the Project, but who is dismissed, displaced or
otherwise worsened solely because of the total or partial termination of the Projector exhaustion of Project
funding shall not be deemed eligible for a dismissal or displacement allowance within the meaning of
paragraphs (6) and (7) of this arrangement.

(2) Where employees of a Recipient are represented for collective bargaining purposes, all Project services
provided by that Recipient shall be provided under and in accordance with any collective bargaining agreement
applicable to such employees which is then in effect. Tliis Arrangement does not create any collective
bargaining relationship where one does not already exist or between any Recipient and the employees of



another employer. Where the Recipient has no collective bargaining relationship with the Unions representing
employees in the service area, the Recipient will not take any action which impairs or interferes with the rights,
privileges, and benefits and/or the preservation or continuation of the collective bargaining rights of such
employees.

(3) Ail rights, privileges, and benefits (including pension rights and benefits) of employees covered by this
arrangement (including employees having already retired) under existing collective bargaining agreements or
otherwise, or under any revision or renewal thereof, shall be preserved and continued; provided, however, that
such rights, privileges and benefits which are not foreclosed from further bargaining under applicable law or
contract may be modified by collective bargaining and agreement by the Recipient and the Union involved to
substitute other rights, privileges and benefits. Unless otherwise provided, nothing in this arrangement shall
be deemed to restrict any rights the Recipient may otherwise have to direct the working forces and manage its
business as it deems best, in accordance with the applicable collective bargaining agreement.

(4) The collective bargaining rights of employees covered by this arrangement, including the right to arbitrate
labor disputes and to maintain union security and check off arrangements, as provided by applicable laws,
policies and/or existing collective bargaining agreements, shall be preserved and continued. Provided,
however, that this provision shall not be interpreted so os to require the Recipient to retain any such rights
which exist by virtue of a collective bargaining agreement after such agreement is no longer in effect.

The Recipient agrees that it will bargain collectively with the Union or otherwise arrange for the
continuation of collective bargaining, and that it will enter into agreements with the Union or arrange for such

> agreements to be entered into, relative to all subjects which are or may be proper subjects of collective
bargaining. If, at any time, applicable law or contracts permit or grant to employees covered by this
arrangement the right to utilize any economic measures, nothing in this arrangement shall be deemed to
foreclose the exercise of such right.

(5)(a) The Redpient shall provide to all affected employees sixty (60) days' notice of intended actions which
may result in displacements or dismissals or rearrangements of the working forces as a result of the
Project. In the case of employees represented by a Union, such notice shall be provided by certified mail
through their representatives. The notice shall contain a full and adequate statement of the proposed
changes, and an estimate of the number of employees affected by the intended changes, and the number and
classifications of any jobs within the jurisdiction and control of the Recipient, including those in the
employment of any entity bound by this arrangement pursuant to paragraph (21), available to be filled by such
affected employees.

(5)(b) The procedures of this subparagraph shall apply to cases where notices, provided under subparagraph
5(a), involve employees represented by a Union for collective bargaining purposes. At the request of either
the Recipient or the representatives of such employees, negotiations for the purposes of reaching agreement
with respect to the application of the terms and conditions of this arrangement shall commence
immediately. These negotiations shall include determining the selection offerees from among the mass
transportation employees who may be affected as a result of the Project, to establish which such employees
shall be offered employment for which they are qualified or can be trained. If no agreement is reached within
twenty (20) days from the commencement of negotiations, any party to the dispute may submit the matter to
dispute settlement procedures in accordance with paragraph (15) of this arrangement. Unless the parties
otherwise mutually agree in writing, no change in operations, services, facilities or equipment within the
purview of this paragraph (5) shall occur until after either; 1) an agreement with respect to the application of
the terms and conditions of this arrangement to the intended change(s) is reached; 2) the decision has been
rendered pursuant to the dispute resolution procedures in accordance with paragraph (15) of this
arrangement; or 3) an arbitrator selected pursuant to Paragraph (15) of this arrangement determines that the
intended change(s) may be instituted prior to the finalization of implementing arrangements.

(5)(c) In the event of a dispute as to whether an intended change within the purview of this paragraph (5)
may be instituted at the end of the 60-day notice period and before an implementing agreement is reached or
a final dispute resolution determination is rendered pursuant to subparagraph (b), any involved party may



immediately submit that issue to the dispute resolution process under paragraph (15) of this arrangement. In
any such dispute resolution procedure, the neutral shall rely upon the standards and criteria utilized by the
Surface Transportation Board (and its predecessor agency, the Interstate Commerce Commission) to address
the "preconsummation" issue in cases involving employee protections pursuant to ̂ 9 U.S.C. Section 11326 (or
its predecessor, Section 5(2)(f) of the Interstate Commerce Act, as amended). If the Recipient demonstrates,
as a threshold matter in any such dispute resolution process, that the intend^ action is a trackage rights,
lease proceeding or similar transaction, and not a merger, acquisition, consolidation, or other similar
transaction, the burden shall then shift to the involved labor organi2ation(s) to prove that under the standards
and criteria referenced above, the intended action should not be permitted to be instituted prior to the
effective date of a negotiated or arbitrated implementing agreement. If the Recipient fails to demonstrate that
the intended action is a trackage rights, lease proceeding, or similar transaction, it shall be the burden of the
Recipient to prove that under the standards and criteria referenced above, the intended action should be
permitted to be instituted prior to the effective date of a negotiated or arbitrated implementing
agreement. For purposes of any such dispute resolution procedure, the time period within which the parties
are to respond to the list of potential neutrals submitted by the American Arbitration Association shall be five
(5) days, the notice of hearing may be given orally or by facsimile, the hearing will be held promptly, and the
award of the neutral shall be rendered promptly and, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, no later than
fourteen (14) days from the date of closing the hearings, with five (5) additional days if post hearing briefs are
submitted by either party. The intended change shall not be instituted during the pendency of any dispute
resolution proceedings under this subparagraph (c).

(5)(d) If an intended change within the purview of this paragraph (5) is instituted before an implementing
agreement is reached or a final decision is rendered pursuant to subparagraph (b), all employees affected shall
be kept financially whole, as if the noticed and implement^ action has not taken place, from the time they are'
affected until the effective date of an implementing agreement or final decision. This protection shall be in
addition to the protective period defined in paragraph (14) of this arrangement, which period shall begin on
the effective date of the implementing agreement or final dispute resolution determination rendered pursuant
to subparagraph (b).

An employee selecting, bidding on, or hired to fill any position established as a result of a noticed and
implemented action prior to the consummation of an implementing agreement or final dispute resolution
determination shall accumulate no benefits under this arrangement as a result thereof during that period prior
to the consummation of an implementing agreement or final decision pursuant to subparagraph (b).

(6)(a) Whenever an employee retained in service, recalled to service, or employed by the Recipient pursuant
to paragraphs (5), (7)(e), or (18) hereof is placed in a worse position with respect to compensation as a result
of the Project, the employee shall be considered a "displaced employee", and shall be paid a
monthly "displacement allowance" to be determined in accordance with this paragraph. Said displacement
allowance shall be paid to each displaced employee during the protective period so long as the employee is
unable, in the exercise of his/her seniority rights, to obtain a position producing compensation equal to or
exceeding the compensation the employee received in the position from which the employee was displaced,
' adjusted to reflect subsequent general wage adjustments, including cost of living adjustments where pro\^ided
for.

(6)(b) The displacement allowance shall be a monthly allowance determined by computing the total
compensation received by the employee, including vacation allowances and monthly compensation guarantees,
and his/her total time paid for during the last twelve (12) months in which the employee performed
compensated service more than fifty per centum of each such months, based upon the employee's normal
work schedule, immediately preceding the date of his/her displacement as a result of the Project, and by
dividing separately the total compensation and the total time paid for by twelve, thereby producing the
average monthly compensation and the average monthly time paid for. Such allowance shall be adjusted to
reflect subsequent general wage adjustments, including cost of living adjustments where provided for. If the
displaced employee's compensation in his/her current position is less in any month during his/her protective
period than the aforesaid average compensation (adjusted to reflect subsequent general wage adjustments,
including cost of living adjustments where provided for), the employee shall be paid the difference, less



compensation for any time lost on account of voluntary absences to the extent that the employee is not
available for service equivalent to his/her average monthly time, but the employee shall be compensated in
addition thereto at the rate of the current position for any time worked in excess of the average monthly time
paid for. If a displaced employee fails to exerdse his/her seniority rights to secure another position to which
the employee is entitled under the then existing collective bargaining agreement, and which carries a wage
rate and compensation exceeding that of the position which the employee elects to retain, the employee shall
thereafter be treated, for the purposes of this paragraph, as occupying the position the employee elects to
decline.

(6)(c) The displacement allowance shall cease prior to the expiration of the protective period in the event of
the displaced employee's resignation, death, retirement, or dismissal for cause in accordance with any labor
agreement applicable to his/her employment.

(7)(a) Whenever any employee Is laid off or otherwise deprived of employment as a result of the Project, in
accordance with any collective bargaining agreement applicable to his/her employment, the employee shall be
considered a "dismissed employee" and shall be paid a monthly dismissal allowance to be determined in
accordance with this paragraph. Said dismissal allowance shall first be paid to each dismissed employee on the
thirtieth (30th) day following the day on which the employee is "dismissed" and shall continue during the
protective period, as follow:

Fmplnyee's length of service

Prior to adverse effect Period of protection

1 day tn 6 years equivalent period

6 years or more 6 years

The monthly dismissal allowance shall be equivalent to one-twelfth (l/12th) of the total compensation
received by the employee in the last twelve (12) months of his/her employment in which the employee
performed compensation service more than fifty per centum of each such month based on the employee's
normal work schedule to the date on which the employee was first deprived of employment as a result of the
Project. Such allowance shall be adjusted to reflect subsequent general wage adjustments, Including cost of
living adjustments where provided for.

(7)(b) An employee shall be regarded as deprived of employment and entitled to a dismissal allowance when
the position the employee holds is abolished as a result of the Project, or when the position the employee
holds is not abolished but the employee loses that position as a result of the exercise of seniority rights by an
employee whose position is abolished as a result of the Project or as a result of the exercise of seniority rights
by other employees brought about as a result of the Project,'and the employee is unable to obtain another
position, either by the exercise of the employee's seniority rights, or through the Recipient, in accordance with
subparagraph (e). In the absence of proper notice followed by an agreement or decision pursuant to
paragraph (5) hereof, no employee who has been deprived of employment as a result of the Project shall be
required to exercise his/her seniority rights to secure another position in order to qualify for a dismissal
allowance hereunder.

(7)(c) Each employee receiving a dismissal allowance shall keep the Recipient Informed as to his/her current
address and the current name and address of any other person by whom the employee may be regularly
employed, or if the employee is self-employed.

(7)(d) The dismissal allowance shall be paid to the regularly assigned incumbent of the position abolished. If
the position of an employee is abolished when the employee is absent from service, the employee will be
entitled to the .dismissal allowance when the employee is available for service. The employee temporarily filling
said position at the time it was abolished will be given a dismissal allowance on the basis of that position, until
the regular employee is available for service, and thereafter shall revert to the employee's previous status and
will be given the protections of the agreement in said position, if any are due him/her.



(7)(e) An employee receiving a dismissal allowance shall be subject to call to return to service by the
employee's former employer, after being notified in accordance with the terms of the then-existing collective
bargaining agreement. Prior to such call to return to work by his/her employer, the employee may be required
by the Recipient to accept reasonably comparable employmerit for which the employee is physically and
mentally qualified, or for which the employee can become qualified after a reasonable training or retraining
period, provided it does not require a change in residence or infringe upon the employment rights of other
employees under then-existing collective bargaining agreements.

(7)(0 When an employee who is receiving a dismissal allowance again commences employment in accordance
with subparagraph (e) above, said allowance shall cease while the employee is so reemployed, and the period
of time during whidi the employee is so reemployed shall be deducted from the total period for which the
employee is entitled to receive a dismissal allowance. During the time of such reemployment, the employee
shall be entitled to the protections of this arrangement to the extent they are applicable.

(7)(g) The dismissal allowance of any employee who is otherwise employed shall be reduced to the extent
that the employee's combined monthly earnings from such other employment or self-employment, any benefits
received from any unemployment insurance law, and his/her dismissal allowance exceed the amount upon
which the employee's dismissal allowance is based. Such employee, or his/her union representative, and the
Recipient shall agree upon a procedure by which the Recipient shall be kept currently informed of the earnings
of such employee in employment other than with the employee's former employer, including self-employment,
and the benefits received.

(7)(h) The dismissal allowance shall cease prior to the expiration of the protective period in the event of the
failure of the employee'without good cause to return to service in accordance with the applicable labor
agreement, or to accept employment as provided under subparagraph (e) above, or in the event of the
employee's resignation,, death, retirement, or dismissal for cause in accordance with atiy labor agreement
applicable to his/her employment

(7)(i) A dismissed employee receiving a dismissal allowance shall actively seek and not refuse other
reasonably comparable employment offered him/her for which the employee is physically and mentally
qualified and does not require a change in the employee's place of residence. Failure of Llie dismissed
employee to comply with this obligation shall be grounds for discontinuance of the employee's allowance;
provided that said dismissal allowance shall not, be discontinued until final determination is made either by
agreement between the Recipient and the employee or his/her representative, or by final and binding dispute
resolution determination rendered In accordance with paragraph (15) of this arrangement that such employee
did not comply with this obligation.

(8) In determining length of service of a displaced or dismissed employee for purposes of this arrangement,
such employee shall be given full service credits in accordance with the records and labor agreements
applicable to him/her and the employee shall be given additional service credits for each month in which the
employee receives a dismissal or displacement allowance as if the employee were continuing to perform
services in his/her former position.

(9) No employee shall be entitled to either a displacement or dismissal allowance under paragraphs (6) or (7)
hereof because of the abolishment of a position to which, at some future time, the employee could have bid,
been transferred, or promoted.

(10) No employee receiving a dismissal or displacement allowance shall be deprived, during the employee's
protected period, of any rights, privileges, or benefits attaching to his/her employment, including, without
limitation, group life insurance, hospitalization and medical care, free transportation for the employee and the
employee's family, sick leave, continued status and participation under any disability or retirement program,
and such other employee benefits as Railroad Retirement, Social Security, Workmen's Compensation, and
unemployment compensation, as well as any other benefits to which the employee may be entitled under the



same conditions and so long as such benefits continue to be accorded to other employees of the bargaining
unit, in active service or furloughed as the case may be.

(ll)(a) Any employee covered by this arrangement who is retained in the service of his/her employer, or who
is later restored to service after being entitled to receive a dismissal allowance, and who is required to change
the point of his/her employment in order to retain or secure active employment with the Recipient in
accordance with this arrangement, and who is required to move his/her place of residence, shall be reimbursed
for all expenses of moving his/her household and other personal effects, for the traveling expenses for the
employee'and members of the employee's Immediate family, including living expenses for the employee and
the employee's immediate family, and for his/her own actual wage loss during the time necessary for such
transfer and for a reasonable time thereafter, not to exceed five (5) working days. The exact extent of the
responsibility of the Recipient under this paragraph, and the ways and means of transportation, shall be agreed
upon in advance between the Recipient and the affected employee or the employee's representatives.

(1 l)(b) If any such employee is laid off within three (3) years after changing his/her point of employment in
accordance with paragraph (a) hereof, and elects to move his/her place of residence back to the original point
of employment, the Recipient shall assume the expenses, losses and costs of moving to the same extent
provided in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph (11) and paragraph (12)(a) hereof.

(ll)(c) No claim for reimbursement shall be paid under the provisions of this paragraph unless such claim is
presented to the Recipient in writing within ninety (90) days after the date on which the expenses were
incurred.

(11)(d) Except as otherwise provided in subparagraph (b), changes in place of residence, subsequent to the
initial changes as a result of the Project, which are not a result of the Project but grow out of the normal
exercise of seniority rights, shall not be considered within the purview of this paragraph.

(12)(a) The following conditions shall apply to the extent they are applicable in each instance to any employee
who is retained in the service of the employer (or who is later restored to service after being entitled to receive
a dismissal allowance), who is required to change the point of his/her employment as a result of the Project,
and is thereby required to move his/her place of residence.

If the employee owns his/her own home in the locality from which the employee is required to move, the
employee shall, at the employee's option, be reimbursed by the Recipient for any loss suffered in the sale of
the employee's home for less than its fair market value, plus conventional fees and closing costs, such loss to
t)e paid within thirty (30) days of settlement or closing on the sale of the home. In each case, the fair market
value of the home in question shall be determined, as of a date sufficiently prior to the date of the Project, so
as to be unaffected thereby. The Recipient shall, in each instance, be afforded an opportunity to purchase the
home at such fair market value before it is sold by the employee to any other person and to reimburse the
seller for his/her conventional fees and closing costs.

If the employee is under a contract to purchase his/her home, the Recipient shall protect the employee
against loss under such contract, and in addition, shall relieve the employee from any further obligation
thereunder.

If the employee holds an unexpired lease of a dwelling occupied as the employee's home, the Recipient
shall protect the employee from all loss and cost in securing the cancellation of said lease.

(I2)(b) No claim for loss shall be paid under the provisions of this paragraph unless such claim is presented to
the Recipient in writing within one year after the effective date of the change in residence.

(12)(c) Should a controversy arise in respect to the value of the home, the loss sustained in its sale, the loss
under a contract for purchase, loss and cost in securing termination of a lease, or any other question in
connection with these matters, it shall be decided through a joint conference between the employee, or his/her



union, and the Recipient. In the event they are unabie to agree, the dispute or controversy may be referred
by the Recipient or the union to a board of competent real estate appraisers selected in the following
manner: one (1) to be selected by the representatives of the employee, and one (1) by the Recipient, and
these two, if unabie to agree within thirty (30) days upon the valuation, shall endeavor by agreement with ten
(10) days thereafter to select a third appraiser, or to agree to a method by which a third appraiser shall be
selected, and falling such agreement, either party may request the State and local Board of Real Estate
Commissioners to designate within ten (10) days a third appraiser, whose designation will be binding upon the
parties and whose jurisdiction shall be limited to determination of the issues raised in this paragraph only. A
decision of a majority of the appraisers shall be required and said decision shall be final, binding, and
conclusive. Tbe compensation and expenses of the neutral appraiser including expenses of the appraisal
board, shall be borne equally by the parties to the proceedings. All other expenses shall be paid by the party
incurring them, including the compensation of the appraiser selected by such party.

(12)(d) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (ll)(b) hereof, changes in place of residence, subsequent
to the initial changes as a result of the Project, which are not a result of the Project but grow out of the normal
exercise of seniority rights, shall not be considered within the purview of this pdiayiaph.

(12)(o) "Change in residence" means transfer to a work location which is either (A) oi itside a radius of twenty
(20) miles of the employee's former work location and farther from the employee's residence than was his/her
former work location, or (B) is more than thirty (30) normal highway route miles from the employee's
residence and also farther from his/her residence than was the employee's former work location.

(13)(a) A dismissed employee entitled to protection under this arrangement may, at the employee's option
within twenty-one (21) days of his/her dismissal, resign and (in lieu of all other benefits and protections
provided in this arrangement) accept a lump sum payment computed in accordance with section (9) of the
Washington Job Protection Agreement of May 1936:

Length of Service Separation Allowance

1 year and less than 2 years 3 months' pay

2 "  3 " 6'

3 "  5 " 9'

5 " 10 " 12

10 " 15 " 12

15 ""  over 12

In the case of an employee with less than one year's service, five days' pay, computed by multiplying by 5
the normal daily earnings (including regularly scheduled overtime, but excluding other overtime payments)
received by the employee in the position last occupied, for each month in which the employee performed
service, will be paid as the lump sum.

Length of service shall be computed as provided in Section 7(b) of the Washington Job Protection
Agreement, as follows:

For the purposes of this arrangement, the length of service of the employee shall be determined from the
date the employee last acquired an employment status with the employing carrier and the employee shall be
given credit for one month's service for each month in which the employee performed any service (in any
capacity whatsoever) and twelve (12) such months shall be credited as one year's service. The employment
status of an employee shall not be interrupted by furlough in instances where the employee has a right to and
does return to service when called. In determining length of service of an employee acting as an officer or
other official representative of an employee organization, the employee will be given credit for performing
service while so engaged on leave of absence from the service of a carrier.



(13)(b) One month's pay shall be computed by multiplying by 30 the normal daily earnings (including regularly
scheduled overtime, but excluding other overtime payments) received by the employee in the position last
occupied prior to time of the employee's dismissal as a result of the Project.

(14) Whenever used herein, unless the context requires otherwise, the term "protective period" means that
period of time during which a displaced or dismissed employee is to be provided protection hereunder and
extends from the date on which an employee is displaced or dismissed to the expiration of six (6) years
therefrom, provided, however, that the protective period for any particular employee during which the
employee is entitled to receive the,benefits of these provisions shall not continue for a longer period following
the date the employee was displaced or dismissed than the employee's length of service, as shown by the
records and labor agreements applicable to his/her employment prior to the date of the employee's
displacement or dismissal.

(15) Any dispute, claim, or grievance arising from or relating to the interpretation, application or enforcement.
of the provisions of this arrangement, not otherwise governed by paragraph 12(c) of this arrangement, the
Labor-Management Relations Act, as amended, the Railway Labor Act, as amended, or by ihnpasse resolution
provisions in a collective bargaining or protective arrangement involving the Recipient(s) and the Union(s),
which cannot be settled by the parties thereto within thirty (30) days after the dispute or controversy arises,
may be submitted at the written request of the Recipient(s) or the Union(s) in accordance with a final and
binding resolution procedure mutually acceptable to the parties. Failing agreement within ten (10) days on the
selection of such a procedure, any party to the dispute may request the American Arbitration Association to
furnish an arbitrator and administer a final and binding arbitration under Its Labor Arbitration Rules. The
parties further agree to accept the arbitrator's award as final and binding.

The compensation and expenses of the neutral arbitrator, and any other jointly incurred expenses, shall be
borne equally by the Union(s) and Recipient(s), and all other expenses shall be paid by the party incurring
them.

In the event of any dispute as to whether or not a particular employee was affected by the Project, it shall
be the employee's obligation to identify the Project and specify the pertinent facts of the Project relied
upon. It shall then be the burden of the Recipient to prove that factors other than the Project affected the
employee. The claiming employee shall prevail if it is established that the Project had an effect upon the
employee even if other factors may also have affected the employee (See Hodgson's Affidavit in Civil Action
No. 825-71).

(16) The Recipient will be financially responsible for the application of these conditions and will make the
necessary arrangements so that any employee affected, as a result of the project, may file a written claim
through his/her Union representative with the Recipient within sixty (60) days of the date the employee
is terminated or laid off as a result of the Project, or within eighteen (18) months of the date the employee's
position with respect to his/her employment is otherwise worsened as a result of the Project. In the latter
case, if the events giving rise to the claim have occurred over an extended period, the 18-month limitation
shall be measured from the last such event. No benefits shall be payable for any period prior to six (6) months
from the date of the filing of any claim. Unless the claim is filed with the Recipient within said time limitations,
the Recipient shall thereafter be relieved of all liabilities and obligations related to the claims:

The Recipient will fully honor the claim, making appropriate payments, or will give written notice to the
claimant and his/her representative of the basis for denying or modifying such claim, giving reasons
therefore. In the event the Recipient fails to honor such daim, the Union may invoke the following procedures
for further joint investigation of the claim by giving notice in writing of its desire to pursue such
procedures. Within ten (10) days from the receipt of such notice, the parties shall exchange such factual
material as may be requested of them relevant to the disposition of the claim and shall jointly take such steps
as may be necessary or desirable to obtain from any third party such additional factual materials as may be
relevant. In the event the claim is so rejected by the Recipient, the claim may be processed in accordance
with the final and binding resolution procedures described in paragraph (15).



(17) Nothing in this arrangement shall be construed as depriving any employee of any rights or benefits which
such employee may have under existing employment or collective bargaining agreements or otherwise;
provided that there shall be no duplication of benefits to any employee, and, provided further, that any benefit
under this arrangement shall be construed to include the conditions, responsibilities, and obligations
accompanying such benefit. This arrangement shall not be deemed a waiver of any rights derived from any
other agreement or provision of federal, state or local law.

(18) During the employee's protective period," a dismissed employee shall, if the employee so requests, in
writing, be granted priority of employment or reemployment to fill any yacant position within the jurisdiction
and control of the Recipient reasonably comparable to that which the employee held when dismissed, including
those in the employment of any entity bound by this arrangement pursuant to paragraph (21) hereof, for
which the employee is, or by training or retraining can become, qualified; not, however, in contravention of
collective bargaining agreements related thereto. In the event such employee requests such training or re
training to fill such vacant position, the Recipient shall provide for such training or re-training at no cost to the
employee. The employee shall be paid the salary or hourly rate provided for in the applicable collective
bargaining agreement for such position, plus any displacement allowance to which the employee may be
otherwise entitled. If such dismissed employee who has made such request fails, without good cause, within
ten (10) days to accept an offer of a position comparable to that which the employee held when dismissed for
which the employee is qualified, or for which the employee has satisfactorily completed such training, the
employee shall, effective at the expiration of such ten-day period, forfeit all rights and benefits under this
arrangement.

As between employees who request employment pursuant to this paragraph, the following order where
applicable shall prevail in hiring such employees;

(a) Employees in the craft or class of the vacancy shall be given priority over employees without seniority in
such craft or class;

(b) As between employees having seniority in the craft or class of the vacancy, the senior employees, based
upon their service in that craft or class, as shown on the appropriate seniority roster, shall prevail over junior
employees;

(c) As between employees not having seniority in the craft or class of the vacancy, the senior employees,
based upon their service in the crafts .or classes in which they do have seniority as shown on the appropriate
seniority rosters, shall prevail over junior employees.

(19) The Recipient will post, in a prominent and accessible place, a notice stating that the Recipient has
received federal assistance under the Federal Transit statute and has agreed to comply with the provisions of
49 U.S.C., Section 5333(b). Tliis notice shall also specify the terms and conditions set forth herein for the
protection of employees. The Recipient shall maintain and keep on file all relevant books and records in
sufficient detail as to provide the basic information necessary to the proper application, administration, and
enforcement of this arrangement and to the proper determination of any claims arising thereupder.

(20) In the event the Project is approved for assistance under the statute, the foregoing terms and conditions
shall be made part of the contract of assistance between the federal government and the Grantee and
between the Grantee and any Recipient; provided, ̂however, that this arrangement shall not merge into the
contract of assistance, but shall be independently binding and enforceable by and upon the parties thereto,
and by any covered employee or his/her representative. In accordance with its terms, nor shall any other
employee protective agreement merge into this arrangement, but each shall be independently binding and
enforceable by and upon the parties thereto, in accordance with its terms.

(21) This arrangement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, and no
provisions, terms, or obligations herein contained shall be affected, modified, altered, or changed in any



respect whatsoever by reason of the arrangements made by or for the Recipient to manage and operate the
system.

Any person, enterprise, body, or agency, whether publicly or privately owned, which shall undertake the
management, provision and/or operation of the Project services or the Recipient's transit system, or any part
or portion thereof, under contractual arrangements of any form with the Recipient, its successors or assigns,
shall agree to be bound by the terms of this arrangement and accept the responsibility with the Recipient for
full performance of these conditions. As a condition precedent to any such contractual arrangements, the
Recipient shall require such person, enterprise, body or agency to so agree in writing. Transit employees in
the service area of the project are third-party beneficiaries to the terms of this protective arrangement, as
incorporated by reference in the contractual agreement.

(22) In the event of the acquisition, assisted with Federal funds, of any transportation system or services, or
any part or portion thereof, the employees of the acquired entity shall be assured employment, in comparable
positions, within the jurisdiction and control of the acquiring entity, including positions in the employment of
any entity bound by this arrangement pursuant to paragraph (21). All persons employed under the provisions
of this paragraph shall be appointed to such comparable positions without examination, other than that
required by applicable federal, state or local law or collective bargaining agreement, and shall be credited with
their years of service for purposes of seniority, vacations, and pensions in accordance with the records of their
former employer and/or any applicable collective bargaining agreements.

(23) The employees covered by this arrangement shall continue to receive any applicable coverage under
Social Security, Railroad Retirement, Workmen's Compensation, unemployment compensation, and the like. In
no event shall these benefits be worsened as a result of the Project.

(24) In the event any provision of this arrangement is held to be invalid, or otherwise unenforceable under
federal, state, or local law, in the context of a particular Project, the remaining provisions of this arrangement

-sbaH-net bo offcctcd ond the invalid or unenforceable provision shall be r-encgotiotcd by tho RGCipicnt ond the
interested Union representatives of the employees involved for purpose of adequate replacement under
Section S333(b). If such negotiation shall not result in mutually satisfactory agreement any party may invoke
the jurisdiction of the Secretary of Labor to determine substitute fair and equitable employee protective
arrangements for application only to the particular Project, which shall be incorporated in this arrangement
only as applied to that Project, and any other appropriate action, remedy, or relief.

(25) If any employer of the employees covered by this arrangement shall have rearranged or adjusted its
work force(s) in anticipation of the Project, with the effect of depriving an employee of benefits to which the
employee should be entitled under this arrangement, the provisions of this arrangement shall apply to such
employee as of the date when the employee was so affected.

Last Updated: 5-12-17
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Contract Agreement Revised 1/11/19

Contract Agreement

New Hampshire Department of Transportation
And

Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc.

The Subrecipienl, Tri-Counly Community Action Program, Inc., shall comply with all applicable
federal laws, regulations, and requirements as outlined in the most recent Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) Master Agreement and Federal Certifications and Assurances.

This subaward includes infomiation required by 2 CFR Part 200 as follows:

Subrecipient Name: Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc.

Subrccipient DUNS number: 073975708

Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN); 1385-2019-2

Type of Federal Award; Section 5310 RCC Federal Award Date: 7/1/19

Period of Performance:

FFY; 2018 Start Date: 7/1/19 End Date: 6/30/20

Federal Funds Obligated by the Action:

For SFY: 2020 Section: 5310 RCC Amount: $187,535.00

Total Amount of Federal Funds Obligated to Subrecipient:

For SFY: 2020 Section: 5310 RCC Amount: $187,535.00

Total Amount of Federal Award:

Section; 5310 RCC Amount: $187,535.00

Catalog ofFederal Domestic Assistance (CDFA) number: 20.513 FFY: 2018

Federal Award Proiect Description: Funding to enhance mobility for seniors and individuals with
disabilities

(As required to be responsive to the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFAFT))

Is this award for research and development: No

Provide the indirect cost rate for the federal award: 10%

Name ofFederal Awarding Agency: Federal Transit Administration
Grantee: New Hampshire Department of Transportation

Contact Information for Awarding Official:

Name: Patrick C. Herlihy Title: Director of Aeronautics, Rail & Transit
Email; Patrick.Herlihy@dot.nh.gov Phone: 603-271-2449
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Contract Agreement
New Hampshire Department of Transportation

And

Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc.

The Subrecipienl, Tri-Counly Communily Action Program, Inc., sliall comply with all applicable
federal laws, regulations, and requirements as outlined in the most recent Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) Master Agi-eement and Federal Certifications and Assurances.

This subaward includes information required by 2 CFR Part 200 as follows:

Subrecipient Name: Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc.

Subrecipient DUNS number: 073975708

Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN): 1385-2019-3

Type ofFedcial Award; Secliuii 5311 Federal Award Date: 7/1/19

Period of Perfonnance:

FFY: 2018 Start Date: 7/1/19 End Date: 6/30/21

Federal Funds Obligated bv the Action:

For SFY: 2020 Section: 5311 Amount: $393,000.00

For SFY; 2021 Section: 5311 Amount: $410,000.00

Total Amount of Federal Funds Obligated to Subrecipient:

For SFY: 2020-2021 Section: 5311 Amount: $803,000.00

Total Amount of Federal Award:

Section: 5311 Amount: $803,000.00

Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CDFA) number: 20.509 FFY: 2018

Federal Award Project Description: Funding to enhance mobility for seniors and individuals with

disabilities (As required to be responsive to the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFAIH^))

Is this award for research and development: No

Provide the indirect cost rate for the federal award: 10%

Name of Federal Awarding Agency: Federal Transit Administration
Grantee: New Hampshire Department of Transportation

Contact Information for Awarding Official:

Name: Patrick C. Herlihy Title: Director of Aeronautics, Rail & Transit
Email: Patrick.Herlihy@dot.nh.gov Phone: 603-271-2449
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Report on the Financial Sfatemenfs

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Tri-County Community
Action Program. Inc. and Affiliate (a New Hampshire nonprofit organization), which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related
consolidated statements of cash flows, functional expenses, and the related consolidated
statement of activities for the year ended June 30, 2018. for the years then ended, and the
related notes to the consolidated financial statements. n

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of-these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted pur audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United Slates of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors' judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated.financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of Tri-County Community Action Program.
Inc. and Affiliate as of June 30. 2018 and 2017, and its consolidated cash flows for the years
then ended, and the changes in its net assets for the year ended June 30, 2018, in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc. and Affiliate's 2017
consolidated financial statements, and we expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those
consolidated financial statements in our report dated November 10, 2017. In our opinion, the
summarized comparative Information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30.
2017, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited consolidated financial statements
from which it has been derived.

Other information -

Our uudil wus cuiiduclud fui lliO pui'puCu Of fuiTi'iii'ig an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as
required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200. Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented lor
purposes nf afldjtinnal analysis and is not a required part of the. consolidated financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly
stated, in all material respects,.in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
October 19, 2018, on our consideration of Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc.'s internal
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Tri-County
Community Action Program, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc.'s Internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

October 19. 2018

North Conway, New Hampshire



TRI-COUNTY COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAIVl. \NC. AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
JUNE 30. 2018 AND 2017

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Pledges receivable
Inventories

Prepaid expenses

Total current assets

ASSETS

2018

1.329,038
1.156.657

212,207

87,569
25.640

2,811.111

2017

505,700

1,326,994

205.804

65.641

45.345

2.149.484

PROPERTY

Property and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

Properly, net •

OTHER ASSETS

Restricted cash

Building refinance costs, net

Total other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Demand note payable
Current portion of long term debt
Current portion of capital lease obligations
Accounts payable

Accrued compensated absences
Accrued salaries

Accrued expenses

Refundable advances

Other liabilities

Total current liabilities

12.812.689
(5.203.324)

7.609.365

706.765

12,705

719,470

516.022

142.733

4.445

237,276

203,121

187.508

131,888

191,069
387.168

2.001.230

13,544,469
(5,317.470)

8.226.999

942.687

13.591

956.278

S 11.139.946 $ 11.332.761

671,434

587,809

4.057

518,447

242,545

196,882

107,627

197,548

645.311

3,171.660

LONG TERM DEBT

Long term debt, net of current portion
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion

Total liabilities

5.386,642
8,226

7.396.098

5.254.436

12.670

8,438.766

NET ASSETS

Unrestricted

Temporarily restricted

Total net assets

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

2.926,057

817.791

3,743,848

2.191.395

702,600

2.893,995

S 11,139.946 $ 11,332,761

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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TRI.COUNTY COMMUNITV ACTION PROGRAM. WC. AND AFFIUATE

CONSOLtDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30. 2018

WITH PRIOR YEAR SUMMARIZED COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Temporarily 2018 2017

Unmstrictnd Restricted Total Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Grant and contracts 5  14.09/.tj2y S  211.45/ S  14.309.086 S 12.1>44.J>S7
Program funding t.259,037 - 1,259.037 1.708.487

Utility programs 1,079.361 - 1.079.361 972.359

In-kind ccntdbutions 351.187 - 351.187 436.874

Contributions 116.928 278.297 395.225 497.735

Fundralsing 59.536 - 59.536 42.421

Rental income 679.112 - 679.112 847.380
Interest irtcomo 348 - 348 270

Gain (loss) on disposal of property 48,487 • 48.487 (16,685)
For^veness of debl - - - 25,912

Other revenue 81.938 - 81.938 4 461

Total revenues and other support 17.773.563 489.754 18.263,317 17.163,771

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS 374.563 1374.563) .

Total revenues, othet support and

net assets released from restrictions 18.148.126 115,191 18.263.317 17.163.771

FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

Program Services;
Agency Fund 922.701 - 922.701 825,517

Head Start 2.481.916 . 2.481.916 2.312.665

Guardianship 760.009 - 760.009 735.925

Transportation 879.729 . 879.729 1.063.996
Volunteer 122.941 - 122.941 121.543

Workforce Development 394.252 . 394.252 .  402.576

Alcohol and Other Drugs 444.581 ■ 444.581 1.165,000

Carroll County Denial 642.637 - 642.637 542,920

Support Center 276.172 - 276.172 ,  265,052

Homeless 577.783 . 577.783 554.509

Energy and Community Devetopmenl 7,480.943 7.480.943 6.276.570

Elder 1,142.818 - 1.142.816 1.026.070

Housing Services 176.511 - 176.511 167.528

Total program ser%flces 16,302.993 16.302.993 15.459.871

Supporting Activities:

General arxf administrative 1,102.448 - 1.102.448 1.213.425

Fund raising 8.023 - 8.023 4.873

Total supporting activities 1,110.471 1,110.471 1.218,298

.Total furKiior^l expenses 17.413.464 . 17.413,464 16.678.169

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 734.662 115.191 849.653. 485.602

NET ASSETS. BEGINNING OF YEAR 2.191.395 702.600 2.893.995 2.408.393

NET ASSETS. END OF YEAR S  2.926.057 S  817,791 5  3.743,848 $  2.893.995

See Notes to Consolidalod Financial Statements
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TRt-CQUNTY COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM. INC. AND AFBLIAIE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30. 2018 AND 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Charige in net assets
Adjustments to recondle change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Oepreciation and amortization
Donation of property and equipment
Loss on disposal of property
Forgiveness of debt

(Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable

Pledges receivable
Inventories

Prepaid expenses
Restricted cash

(Decrease) increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensated absences

Accrued salaries

Accrued expenses

Refundable advances

Other tiabililies

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITiES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from disposal of property
Purchases of property and equipment

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net repayment on demand note payable
Repayment of long-term debt
Repayment of capital lease obligaiions

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW

INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the year for:

Interest

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING

AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property and equipment financed by long-term debt

Purchase of property and equipment financed by capital lease

Fixed assets donated

2018 2017

S  849.653 $  485.602

464.370 492.141

- (224.685)
(48.487) 16,685

- (25.912)

170.337 (78,676)
(6,403) 23,615

(2i:928) 23.239
19 705 (4.353)

235,922 (154.926)

(281,171) (157.079)

(39,424) (51,698)
(9.374) 20,697

24.261 13,863

(6.479) (35,781)
(258.143) 134.401

1.093,039 477.133

278,972 26.750

(141,335) (181.113)

137.637 (154.363)

(90.412) (192.432)
{312,870) (210.808)

(4,056) (3.636)

(407.338) (406.876)

823.338 (84.106)

505.700 589.806

$  1.329.038 S  505.700

$  182.514 S  208.781

14.867

5.889

18,830

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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TRI-CQUNTY COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM. INC. AND AFFILIATE

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30. 2018 AND 2017

N0TE1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tri-County
Community Action Program, Inc. and its affiliate, Cornerstone Housing North, Inc.
The two organizations are consolidated because Tri-County Community Action
Program, Inc. controls 100% of the voting power of Cornerstone Housing North, Inc.
All significant intercompany items and transactions have been eliminated from the
basic financial statements. Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc. (the
Organization) is a New Hampshire non-profit corporation that operates a wide
variety of community service programs which are funded primarily through grants or
contracts from various federal, slate, and local agencies. Cornerstone Housing
North, Inc. (a New Hampshire nonprofit corporation) was incorporated under the
laws of the Stale of New Hampshire for the acquisition, construction and operation
of community based hotising for the elderly.

/

Nature of activiticG

The Organization's programs consist of the following:

Agency

Tri-County CAP Administration provides centra! program management
support and oversight to the Organization's many individual programs.
Tliis itidudes ijlatiiiiuy ai'id budget development, bookkeeping and
accounting, payroll and HR services, legal and audit services, IT support,
management support, financial support and central policy development.

Tri-County CAP Administration is the liaison between Tri-County
Community Action Program, Inc., Board of Directors and its programs,
ensuring that programs comply with agreements made by the Board to
funding sources and vendors.

Other responsibilities include the management and allocation of funding
received through a Community Services Block Grant, as well as
management of the Organization's real estate property.

Head Start

Head Start provides comprehensive services to low-income children and
their families. Head Start supports children's growth and development in a
positive learning environment through a variety of activities as well as
providing services, which include in addition to early learning, health and
family well-being. All children receive health and development screenings,
nutritious meals, oral health and mental health support. Parents and
families are supported in achieving their own goals, such as housing
stability, continued education, and financial stability.



Programs support and strengthen parent-child relationships as their child's
primary educator. Head Start staff work as partners with parents to identify
and provide individualized activities that support their child's growth and
development.

Tri County Community Action Head Start serves 217 children in Carroll,
Coos & Grafton counties in 9 locations with 12 center-based classrooms

and 1 home based option.

Guardianship

The Organization's Guardianship program provides advocacy and guardian
services for the vulnerable population of New Hampshire residents
(developmentally disabled, chronically mentally ill, traumatic brain injury,
and the elderly suffering from atzheimer's, dementia, and multiple medical
issues) who need a guardian and who have no family member or friend
willing, able, or suitable to serve In that capacity. This program serves 406
individuals. Additional services include, conservatorship, representative
payee-ship, federal fiduciary services, benefit management services and
private probate accounting services.

Transportation

The Organization's transit program provides various transportation
services: public bus routes, door-to-door service by request, long distance
medical travel to medical facilities outside our regular service area, and
special trips for the elderly to go shopping and enjoy other activities that
are located outside the regular service area. The Organization's fleet of 17
wheelchair accessible vehicles offers transportation options to the elderly
and disabled, as well as to the general public.

Volunteer

The Coos County Retired & Senior Volunteers Program (RSVP) maintains
a minimum group of 400 volunteers, ages 55 and older, of which 309
actively served during the last reporting period. These volunteers share
their skills, life experiences, and time with over 60 local non-profit and
public agencies throughout Coos County that depend .on volunteer
assistance to meet the needs of their constituents. Our volunteers donate
over 43,611 hours yearly.

Workforce Development

The Organization is assisting transitional and displaced workers as they
prepare for new jobs, and also assisting currently-employed workers to
gain the skills required for better jobs.



The Organization is helping to implement New Hampshire's Unified State
Plan for Workforce Development, in line with the federal Workforce
Investment Act. Workforce training programs, with training facilities in
three towns, provide temporary assistance for needy families (TANF)
recipients with 20-30 hours per week of training in the areas of employment
skills, computer skills, and business experience, and also place
participating TANF recipients in community-based work experience sites.

Alcohol & Other Drugs (AOD)

Services provided through the- AOD program include assisting the
alcoholic/addicted person on the road to recovery, through three phases:
Crisis Intervention, Sobriety Maintenance, and Assessment and Referral to
appropriate treatment facilities.

The Residential Treatment Programs {Friendship House) provide
chemically dependent individuals with the fundamental tools of recovery,
including educational classes, group and individual counseling, work and
recreational therapy, and attendance at in-house and community-based
alcoholics anonyrnous and narcotics anonymous meetings. The AOD
program also offers assistance with its impaired driver programs.

The Friendship House, in December of 2014, had approximately $130,000
worth of investments and improvements due to assistance from Public
Services of New Hampshire. There was a total of $111,595 of pre-
development capitalized expenses at June 30, 2017.

Effective October 1. 2017, the Organization is no longer responsible for the
Alcohol & Other Drugs (AOD) program. The grants for the program have been
transferred to North Country Health Consortium (NCHC), as they are taking
over the program. The Friendship House was sold to Affordable Housing
Education and Development (AHEAD).

Carroll County Dental

The Tamworth Dental Center (the Center) offers high quality oral health
care to children with NH Medicaid coverage. The Organization also serves
uninsured and underinsured children and adults using a sliding fee scale
that offers income-based discounts for care. The Center accepts most
common dental insurances for those who have commercial dental

insurance coverage. A school-based project of the Dental Center, School
Smiles, offers oral Health education, screening, treatment and referrals for
treatment to over 1,000 children in 9 schools in the vicinity of the Center.

Support Center

The Organization's Support Center at Burch House provides direct service
and shelter to victims and survivors of domestic and sexual violence and
stalking in Northern Grafton County. Support Center services are
accessible 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. They include: crisis
intervention; supportive counseling; court, hospital and policy advocacy
and accompaniment; emergency shelter; support groups; community

10



education and outreach; violence prevention programs for students;
information, referrals and assistance accessing other community
resources.

Homeless

Homeless services include an outreach intervention and prevention project
that strives to prevent individuals and families from becoming homeless,
and assists the already homeless in securing safe, affordable housing. The
Organization provides temporary shelter space for homeless clients.

The Organization also provides some housing rehabilitation services to
help preserve older housing stock. ,

Energy Assistance and Outreach

Energy Assistance Services provide fuel and electric assistance through
direct pay to vendors or a discount on the client's bill. Community Contact
sites allow local participants access to energy assistance programs and
other emergency services. The offices provide information to the
Organization's clients about other programs offered, as well as other
programs available through other organizations in the community.

^  .S,
Low-Income Weatherization

The NH weatherization program helps low-income families, elderly,
disabled, small children and individuals lower their home energy costs;
increase their health, safety, and comfort; and improve the quality of living
while improving housing stock in communities around the state utilizing
energy cost saving, health and safety and carbon lowering measures. The
NH Weatherization Assistance Program also creates local NH jobs.

Eider

The Organization's elder program provides senior meals in 15 community
dining sites, home-delivered meals (Meals on Wheels) to the frail and
homebound elderly, and senior nutrition education and related
programming. The Coos County ServiceLink" Aging & Disability Resource
Center assists with person-centered counseling, Medicare counseling,
Medicaid assistance, long-term care counseling services, and caregiver
supports.

Housing Services

Cornerstone Housing North, Inc. is subject to a Project Rental Assistance
Contract (PRAC) with the United States Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD), and a significant portion of their rental income is
received from HUD.

The Organization includes a 12 unit apartment complex in Berlin, New
Hampshire for the elderly. This operates under Section 202 of the National
Housing Act and is regulated by HUD with respect to the rental charges
and operating methods,

11



The above Organization has a Section 202 Capita! Advance. Under
guidelines established by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget
Uniform Guidance, Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards, the Section 202 Capital Advance is
considered to be a major program.

Method of accounting

The consolidated financial statements of Tri-County Community Action Program,
Inc. have been prepared utilizing the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as
promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC). Under this basis, revenue, other than contributions,
and expenses are reported when incurred without regard to the date of receipt or
payment of cash.

Basis of presentation

Financial statement presentation follows the recommendations of the FASB in its
Accounting Standard Codification No. 958 Financial Statements of Not-For-Profit
Organizations. Under FASB ASC No. 958, the Organization is required to report
information regarding its financial position and activities according to three classes
of net assets: unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and
permanently restricted net assets.

The Organization had no permanently restricted net assets at June 30, 2018 and
2017. The Organization had temporarily restricted net assets of $817,791 and
$702,600 at June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Restricted and unrestricted support

Contributions received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or
permanently restricted support, depending on the existence and/or nature of any
donor restrictions. Support that is restricted is reported as an increase in
temporarily or permanently restricted net assets, depending on the nature of the
restriction. When a restriction expires (that is. when a stipulated time restriction
ends or purpose restriction is accomplished), temporarily restricted net assets are
reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as
net assets released from restrictions.

Unrestricted net assets include revenues and expenses and contributions
which are not subject, to any donor imposed restrictions. Unrestricted net
assets can be board designated by the Board of Directors for special projects
and expenditures.

Temporarily restricted net assets include contributions for which time
restrictions or donor-imposed restrictions have not yet been-met. When a
restriction expires, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to
unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as net assets
released from restriction (Note 12).

12



Permanently restricted net assets include gifts which require, by donor
restriction, that the corpus be invested in perpetuity and only the income or a
portion thereof (excluding capital gains restricted by State statute) be made
available for program operations in accordance with donor restrictions. The
Organization had no permanently restricted net assets at June 30, 2018 and
2017.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (i.e. the "exit price") in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The accounting standards for fair values
establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes
the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by
requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable
inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the
Organization. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Organization's
assumptions about tlie assumptions mark.et participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the
circumstances.

/

The hierarchy is classified into three levels based on the reliability of inputs as
follows:

Level 1: Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Organization has the ability to access. Since
valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available
in an active market, valuation of these products does not entail a significant
degree of judgment.

Level 2: Valuation is determined from quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical instruments in markets
that are not active or by model-based techniques, in which all significant inputs
are observable in the market.

Level 3: Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant tb
the overall fair value measurement. The degree of judgment exercised in
determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized as Level 3.

The availability of observable inputs can vary and is affected by a wide variety of
factors, including, the type of asset/liability, whether the asset/liability is established
in the marketplace, and other characteristics particular to the transaction. To the
extent that valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or
unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value requires more judgment.
In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels
of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, for disclosure purposes the level in the
fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety falls is
determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety.

13



Fair value is a market-based measure considered from the perspective of a market
participant rather than an entity-specific measure. Therefore, even when market
assumptions are not readily available, assumptions are required to reflect those that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from
balances outstanding at year-end. Most of the receivables are amounts due from
federal and state awarding agencies and are based on reimbursement for
expenditures made under specific grants or contracts. A portion of the accounts
receivable balance represents amounts due from patients at Carroll County Dental
program. Past due receivables are written off at management's discretion using the
direct write off method; this js not considered a departure from accounting principles
generally accepted in the United State because the effects of the direct write
method approximate those of the allowance method. Management selects accounts
to be written off .after analyzing past payment history, the age of the accounts
receivable, and collection rates for receivables with similar characteristics, such as
length of time outstanding. The Organization does not charge interest on
outstanding accounts receivable.

Property and Depreciation

Acquisitions of buildings, equipment, and improvements in excess of $5,000 and all
expenditures for repairs, maintenance, and betterments that materially prolong the
useful lives of assets are capitalized. Buildings, equipment, and improvements are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.

Depreciation expense related to assets used solely by an individual program is
charged directly to the related program. Depreciation expense for assets used by
more than one program is charged to the program based upon a square footage or
other similar allocation.

Depreciation expense related to administrative assets is included in the indirect cost
pool and charged to the programs in accordance with the indirect cost plan.
Maintenance and repairs that do not materially prolong the useful lives of assets are
charged to expense as incurred.

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 20 to 40 years
Vehicles 5 to 8.5 years
Furniture and equipment 5 to 15 years

Client Rents and HUD Rent Subsidy

Cornerstone Housing North, Inc.'s rents are approved on an annual basis by the
Department of Housing and Urban Development. Rental increases are prohibited
without such approval. The clients are charged rent equal to 30% of their income
less adjustments allowed by tl;ie Department of Housing and Urban Development.
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Rent subsidies are received from the Department of Housing and Urban
Development for the difference between the allowed rents and the amounts
received from the clients.

Refundable Advances

Grants received in advance are recorded as refundable advances and recognized
as revenue in the period in which the related services or expenditures are
performed or incurred. Funds received in advance of grantor conditions being met
aggregated $191.069 and $197,548 as of June 30. 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Nonprofit tax status

The Organization is a not-for-profit Section 501(c)(3) organization in accordance
with the Internal Revenue Code. It has been classified as an Organization that is
not a private foundation under the Internal Revenue Code and qualifies for a
charitable contribution deduction for individual donors. The Organization files
information returns in the United States. The Organization's Federal Form, 990
(Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax), is subject to examination by the
IRS. generally for three years after it is filed. The Organization is no longer subject
to examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2014

The Organization follows FASB ASC, Accounting for Unceiiainty in Income Taxes,
which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in incorne taxes and prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial slatemeiit recognition •
and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
The Organization does not believe they have taken uncertain tax positions,
therefore, a liability for income taxes associated with uncertain tax positions has not
been recognized.

Cornerstone Housing North, Inc. is exempt from income taxes under Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Internal Revenue Service has
determined the Organization to be other than a private foundation within the
meaning of Section 509(a).

Retirement plan

The Organization maintains a tax-sheltered annuity plan under the provisions of
Section 403(b) of the Internal Reveriue Code. All employees are eligible to
contribute to the plan beginning on the date they are employed. Each employee
may elect salary reduction agreement contributions in accordance with limits
allowed in the Internal Revenue Code. Employer contributions are at the
Organization's annual discretion. In January 2013.'employer contribution payments
ceased, therefore as of June 30. 2018 and 2017, there were no discretionary
contributions recorded. Further information can be obtained from the
Organization's 403(b) audited financial statements.

Donated services and goods

Contributions of donated services that create or enhance non-financial assets or
that require specialized skills and would typically need to be purchased if not
provided by donation are recorded at their fair values in the period received.
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Contributed noncash assets are recorded at fair value at the date of donation. If

donors stipulate how long the assets must be used, the contributions are recorded
as restricted support. In the absence of such stipulations, contributions of noncash
assets are recorded as unrestricted support.

'  /

Donated property and equipment

Donations of property and equipment are recorded as support at their estimated fair
value at the date of donation. Such donations are reported as unrestricted support
unless the donor has restricted the donated asset to a specific purpose. Assets
donated with explicit restrictions regarding their use and contributions of cash that
must be used to acquire property and equipment are reported as restricted support.
Absent donor stipulations regarding how long those donated assets must be
maintained, the Organization reports expirations of donor restrictions when the
donated or acquired assets are placed in service as instructed by the donor. The
Organization reclassifies temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net assets
at that time.

Promises to Give

Conditional promises to give are not recognized in the financial statements until the
conditions are substantially met. Unconditional promises to give that are expected
to be collected within one year are recorded at the net realizable value.
Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected in more than one
year are recorded at fair value, which is measured as the present value of their
future cash flows. The discounts on those amounts are computed using risk-
adjusted interest rates applicable to the years in which the promises are received.
Amortization of the discounts is included in contribution revenue. In the absence of

donor stipulations to the contrary, promises with payments due in future periods are
restricted to use after the due date. Promises that remain uncollected more than

one year after their due dates are written off unless the donors indicate that
payment is merely postponed. When a restriction expires, temporarily restricted net
assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, there were promises to give that were absent of
donor stipulations, but restricted in regards to timing, and therefore classified as
temporarily restricted in the amount of $212,207 and $205,804. respectively. This
amount was included in grants and contracts on the Consolidated Statement of
Activities.

Use of estimates

The presentation of financial statements in conformity accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Accounting Standards Codification No. 825 (ASC 825), Disclosures of Fair Value of
Financial Instruments, requires the Organization to disclose fair values of its
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financial instruments. The carrying amount of the Organization's financial
instruments which consists of cash, accounts receivable, deposits and accounts
payable, approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of those
instruments.

Functional allocation of expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been
summarized on a functional basis in the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain
costs have been allocated among the program services and supporting activities
benefited.

Program salaries and related expenses are allocated to the various

programs and supporting services based on actual or estimated time
employees spend on each function as reported on a timesheet.

Workers Compensation expenses are charged to each program based upon
the classification of each employee and allocated to the various program
based upon the time employees spend on each function as noted above.

\

Paid Leave is charged to a leave pool and is allocated to each program as a
percentage of total salaries.

Fringe Benefits are charged to a Fringe Benefit Pool. These expenses
include employer payroll taxes, pension expenses, health and dental
insurance and unemployment compensation. The pool is allocated to each
program based upon a percentage of salaries.

Depreciation expense is allocated to each program based upon specific
assets used by the program and is reported as depreciation expense on the
statements of functional expenses.

Other occupancy expenses are applicable to assets which are used by
multiple programs. Buildings are primarily charged to the benefiting program
based upon an analysis of square footage. Costs related to a building include
depreciation, insurance, utilities, building maintenance, etc. These costs are
reported as space costs on the statements of functional expenses.

Insurance: automobile insurance is allocated to programs based on vehicle
usage; building liability insurance is allocated to programs based on square
footage of the buildings; and insurance for furniture and equipment is allocated
to programs using the book basis of the insured assets.

The remaining shared expenses are charged to an Indirect Cost Pool and
are allocated to each program based upon a percentage of program expenses.
The expenses Include items such as administrative salaries, general liability
insurance, administrative travel, professional fees and other expenses which
cannot be specifically identified and charged to a program.
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The Organization submits an indirect cost rate proposal for the paid leave, fringe
benefits and other indirect costs to the U.S. Department of,Health and Human
Services. The proposal effective for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2017 received
provisional approval and is effective until amended at a rate of 13%. Per the
agreement with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the
Organization's final rate for the year ended June 30. 2017 was 12.5%. The
Organization carefully calculates the allocation to agree exactly with the expenses
in the indirect pool. The actual rate for the year ended June 30, 2018 was
approximately 11.454%, which is allowable because it is less than the provisional
rate.

Advertising policy

The Organization uses advertising to inform the community about the programs it
offers and the availability of services. Advertising Is expensed ds incurred. The total
cost of advertising for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 was $18,616 and
$26,456, respectively.

NOTE 2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, funds on deposit with financial
institutions, and investments with original maturities of three months or less. At
year end and throughout the year, the Organization's cash balances were
deposited with multiple financial institutions. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the
balances in interest and non-interest-bearing accounts were insured by the FDIC up
to $250,000. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, there was approximately $1,200,000 and
$665,000, of deposits held in excess of the FDlC limit, repectively. Management
bclicvco the Organization is not exposed to any signiticant credit risk on cash and
cash equivalents and considers this a normal business risk.

Cash Restrictions

The Organization is required to maintain a deposit account with a bank as part of
the loan security agreement disclosed at Note 6. The required balance in the
account is $19,968 and is restricted from withdrawal except to make payments of
debt service or as approved by the US Department of Agriculture. The Organization
is compliant with this requirement as of October 2017.

Amounts withdrawn to make payments of debt service must be replenished with
monthly deposits until the maximum required deposit balance is achieved. The
balance as of June 30. 2018 and 2017 was $19,980 and $19,611, respectively.
The Organization has made all of their scheduled deposits for the years ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017. These amounts are included in restricted cash on the
Statements of Financial Position.

The Organization is required to maintain a deposit account with another bank as
part of a bond issue (see bond payable in Note 6). The required balance in the
account is $173,817 and is equal to 12 monthly payments. The balance as of June
30, 2018 and 2017 was $174,273 and $187,095, respectively, and the Organization
was in compliance with this requirement. These amounts are included in restricted
cash on the Statements of Financial Position.

18



The Organization maintains a deposit account on behalf of clients who participate in
the Guardianship Services Program. The balance in the account is restricted for
use on behalf of these clients and an offsetting liability is reported on the financial
statements as other current liabilities. The total current liability related to this
restriction at June 30, 2018 and 2017 was $378,605 and $642,308, respectively.
These amounts are included in other liabilities on the Statements of Financial

Position. The total restricted cash within this account at June 30, 2018 and 2017

was $378,605 and 3642,308, respectively, and is Included in the restricted cash
balance on the Statements of Financial Position.

Certain cash accounts related to Cornerstone Housing North, Inc. are restricted for
certain uses in the Organization under rules and regulations prescribed by the
Department of Housing and Urban Development. The total amount restricted at
June 30, 2018 and 2017 was $131,610 and $93,673, respectively.

NOTE 3. INVENTORY

In 2018 and 2017, inventory included weatherization materials which had been
purchased in bulk. These items are valued at the most recent cost. A physical
inventory is taken annually. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. Inventory at June 30, 2018 and 2017, consists of weatherization materials
totaling $87,569 and $65,641, respectively.

During the year ended June 30, 2018, the Organization adopted the provisions of
the FASB Accounting Standard Update (ASU) 2015-11, Inventory, [Topic 330):
Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory, which simplifies the subsequent
measurement of inventory by requiring inventory to be measured at the lower of
cost net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price of
inventory in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal and transportation. The Organization has evaluated ASU
2015-11 and has determined that is no material impact to the financial statements.

NOTE 4. ACCRUED EARNED TIME

For the years ending June 30, 2018 and 2017, employees of the Organization were
eligible to accrue vacation for a maximum of 160 hours. At June 30, 2018 and
2017, the Organization had accrued a liability for future annual leave time that its
employees had earned and vested in the amount of $203,121 and $242,545,
respectively.

19



NOTES. PROPERTY

Property consists of the following at June 30, 2018;

Capitalized Accumulated Net
Cost Depreciation Book Value

Building $10,003,944 $3,448,411 $6,555,533
Equipment 2.384,905 1.754,913 629,992
Land 423.840 : 423.840

Property consists of the following at June 30. 2017;

Capitalized Accumulated Net
Cost Depreciation Book Value

Building $10,679,707 $3,428,094 $7,251,613
Equipment 2,400,922 1,889.376 511.546
Land 463.840 : 463.840

SI 3.544.469 S 5.317.470 S 8.226.999

The Organization has use of computers and equipment which are the property of
state and federal agencies under grant agreements. The equipment, whose book
value is immaterial to the financial statements, is not included in the Organization's
property and equipment totals.

Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 totaled
$463,483 and $491,254, respectively.

The Organization also had building refinancing costs of $17,730 during the year
ended June 30. 2014. Amortization expense and accumulated amortization for the
year ended June 30. 2018 totaled $887 and $5,025, respectively. Amortization
expense and accumulated amortization for the year ended June 30. 2017 totaled
$887 and 34,138, respectively.

NOTE 6. LONG TERM DEBT

The long term debt of the Organization as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 consisted of
the following:

2018 2017

Note payable with the USDA requiring 360 monthly
installments of $1,496. including interest at 4.5% per
annum. The property was sold and the loan was
paid in full during 2018. S ■ ^ 108.127
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Note payable with the USDA requiring 360 monthly
installments of $1,664, including interest at 5% per
annum. Secured by general business assets. Final
installment due January 2027. 138,225 150,935

Note payable with the USDA requiring 360 monthly
installments of $292, including interest at 4.75% per
annum. The property was sold and loan was paid in
full during 2018. - 29.633

Note payable with the USDA requiring 360 monthly
installments of $74. including interest at 4.75% per
annum. The property was sold and loan was paid In
full during 2U18. ' - 8,103

Note payable with a bank requiring 120 monthly
installments of $3,033, including interest at 4.69%
per annum. Secured by first, mortgages on two
commercial properties. Final installment due April
2021. ■ 349,131 368,428

Note payable with a bank requiring 60 monthly
installments of $459, including interest at 5% per
annum. This note was an unsecured line of credit

that was converted to a term loan during the year
ended June 30, 2016. Final installment due April
2021. See Note 8. 14,500 19,144

Note payable to a non-profit organization (related
party), monthly principal payments of $1,533. Final
installment due October 2018. A portion of the note
payable was forgiven by the non-profit organization
during the year ended June 30. 2017. See Note 16. - 24,533

Note payable to a financing company requiring 72
monthly installments of $312, including interest at
5.49% per annum. Secured by. the Organization's
vehicle. Final installment due August 2021. 10,874 13,934

Note payable to a financing company requiring 72
monthly installments of $313, including interest at
5.54% per annum. Secured by the Organization's
vehicle. Final installment due July 2021. 10,637 13,715

Note payable to a^ financing company requiring 60
monthly installments of SI43, including interest at
5.99% per annum. Secured by the Organization's
vehicle. Final installment due November 2020. 3,863 5,306
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Nole payable to a financing company requiring 72
monthly installments of $248, including interest at
6.10% per annum. Secured by the Organization's
vehicle. Final installment due February 2023. 12,041 14,207

Note payable with a bank requiring 60 monthly
installments of $4,518. including interest at 4.16%
per annum. Secured by second mortgage on
commercial property. Final balloon payment was
due December 2017. The loan was refinanced in
March 2018. It requires 60 monthly installments of
$2,512, including interest at 5.51% per annum. Final
balloon payment is due in March 2023. 403,244 417,421

Bond payable with a bank requiring monthly
installments of $14,485. including interest of 2.75%
plus the bank's internal cost of funds multiplied by
67% with an indicative rate as of March 2017 of

3.28%. Secured by first commercial real estate
mortgage on various properties and assignments of
rents at various properties. Final installment due
August 2040. 2.719,260 2.801,159

Cornerstone Housing North, Inc. capital advance
due to the Department of Housing and Urban
Developrhent. This capital advance is not subject to
interest or principal amortization and will be forgiven
after 40 years, or in August 2047. 1,617,600 1,617,600

Cornerstone Housing North. Inc. mortgage payable
due to New Hampshire Housing Finance Authority.
The mortgage is not subject to interest or principal
amortization. Payments are deferred for 40 years,
final payment due in August 2047. 250.000 250,000

5.529.375 5,842,245
Less current portion due within one year (142.733) (587.809)
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The scheduled maturities of long term debt as of June 30, 2016 were as follows:

Years ending
June 30 Amount

2019 $ 142,733

2020 148,501

2021 437,412

2022 123.200

2023 485.560

Thereafter 4.191.969

As described at Note 2. the Organization is required to maintain a reserve account
with a bank for the first four notes payable listed above. In May 2013. the
Organization began making monthly deposits to the reserve account, but had not
yet accumulated the required balance. Failure to meet this requirement may be
construed by the Government to constitute default; however, the awarding agency
is aware of this issue and has not made a request for advanced payment.

NOTE 7. CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS

During the year ended June 30, 2016, the Organization leased a phone system and
copier under the terms of capital leases, expiring in November-2020 and March
2021, respectively. During the year ended June 30, 2017, the Company leased an
additional copier under the terms of a capital lease, expiring in May 2021. The
assets and liabilities under the capital leases are recorded at the lower of the
present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the assets. The
assets are depreciated over their estimated lives.

The obligations included in capital leases at June 30. 2018 and 2017, consisted of
the following:

1  2018 2017
Lease payable to a financing companyi with
monthly installments of $208 for principal and
interest at 9.5% per'annum. The lease is secured
by the phone system and will mature in November

'2020. I $ 5,362 $ 7.246

Lease payable to a financing company with
monthly Installments- of S122 for principal and
interest at 8.841% per annum. The lease is
secured by a copier and will mature in March
2021. 3,467 4,570
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Lease payable to a financing company with
monthly installments of $122 for principal and
interest at 8.918% per annum. The lease is
secured by a copier and will mature in May 2021. 3,842 ^ 4.911

12,671 16,727

Less current portion (4.445) f4.057)

&  8.226 3;  12.670

The scheduled maturities of capital lease obligations as of June 30. 201.8 were as
follows; ^

Years ending
June 30 Amount

2019

2020

2021

4.445

4.870

3.356

12.671

NOTE 8. DEMAND NOTE PAYABLE

The Organization has available a $750,000 line of credit with TO Bank which is
secured by real estate mortgages and assignments of leases and rents on various
properties as disclosed in the line of credit agreement. Borrowings under the line
bear interest at 5.00% per annum, and totaled $316,000 and $400,000 at June 30.
2018 and 2017, respectively. The line is subject to renewal each January.

The Organization was issued an unsecured revolving line of credit in 2014 with the
New Hampshire Department of Administration Services. On June 30, 2018 and
2017, the outstanding debt totaled $200,022 and $271,434, respectively, which
included accrued interest of $22 and $21,434, respectively. During the year ended
June 30. 2017 there was an amendment to the original agreement. The
Organization is not required to make payments of interest or principal prior to
maturity. The unsecured revolving line of credit matures in November 2019.

NOTE 9. OPERATING LEASES

The Organization has entered into numerous lease commitments for space.
Leases under non-cancelable lease agreements have various starting dates,
lengths, and terms of payment and renewal. Additionally, the Organization has
several facilities which are leased on a month to month basis. For the years ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017, the annual rent expense for leased facilities totaled
$165,227 and $163,025, respectively.
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Minimum future rental payments under non-cancelabie operating leases having
initial terms in excess of one year as of June 30, 2018, are as follows:

Years ending
June 30 Amount

2019 S 157,610

2020 43.441

2021 39.611

2022 3.301

NOTE 10. IN-KiND CONTRIBUTIONS

The Organization records the value of in-kind contributions according to the
accounting policy described in Note 1. The Head Start, transportation and elder
programs rely heavily on volunteers who donate their services to the Organization.
These services are valued based upon the comparative market wage for similar
paid positions.

The Organization is also the beneficiary of a donation of in kind in the form of below
market rent for some of the facilities utilized by the Head Start and elder programs.
The value of the in-kind rent is recorded at the difference between the rental

payment and the market rate for the property based upon a recent appraisal.

Many other individuals have donated significant amounts of time to the activities of
the Organization. The financial statements do not reflect any value for these
donated services since there is no reliable basis for making a reasonable
determination.

NOTE 11. CONCENTRATION OF RISK

Tri-County Community Action Program. Inc. receives a majority of its support from
federal and state governments. For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017,
approximately $13,773,803 (75%) and $12,128,016 (71%). respectively, of the
Organization's total revenue was received from federal and state governments. If a
significant reduction in the level of support were to occur, it would have a significant
effect on the Organization's programs and activities.

Cornerstone Housing North. Inc. receives a large majority of its support from the
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. For the years ended June
30. 2018 and 2017 approximately 69% for each year, respectively, of the
Organizations total revenue was derived from the U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development. In the absence of additional revenue sources, the future
existence of Cornerstone Housing North. Inc. is dependent upon the funding
policies of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.
The majority of Cornerstone Housing North, Inc.'s assets are apartment projects,
for which operations are concentrated in the elderly person's real estate market. In
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addition, the Organization operates in a regulated environment. The operation of
the Organization is subject to. administrative directives, rules and regulations of
federal, state and local regulatory agencies, including, but not limited to. HUD.
Such administrative directives, rules and regulations are subject to change by an
act of Congress or an administrative change mandated by HUD. Such changes
may occur with little notice or inadequate funding to pay for the related cost,
including the administrative burden, to comply with the change.

NOTE 12. TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following specific program
services as of June 30, 2018 and 2017;

2018 2017

Temporary Municipal Funding $ 212.207 $ 205,804
Restricted Buildings 190,049 94,239
10 Bricks Shelter Funds 142,190 141.190
FAR 136,614 87,991
IDN Capacity Fund 32.194 15,066
Homeless Programs 27,680 36,856
FAP/EAF 23.249 11,735
Loans - HSGP 21,454 24,261
US DA 10,332 7,252
Loans - HHARLF 6,967 10,884
RSVP Program Funds 5,021 3,675
Head Start 4,172 973

Community Needs Assessment 4,076 -

Donations to Maple Fund 1.586 1,246
NH Charitable Foundation Grant. Mt. Jasper . 32,653
Service Link - 12,123
L. CHIP - Brown Co. House - v8.236
Donations to Mahoosuc Trail - 6.842
Julien Fund (AOD) - 1.175
Angelias Fund (AOD) - 235

EAP ' 164

Total temporarily restricted net assets S 817.791

NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Grant Compliance

The Organization receives funds under several federal and state grants. Under the
terms of the grants the Organization is required to comply with various stipulations
including use and time restrictions. If the Organization was found to be
noncompliant with the provisions of the grant agreements, the Organization could
be liable to the grantor or face discontinuation of funding.
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Environmental Contingencies

On March 30, 2009, the Organization's Board of Directors agreed to secure
ownership of a 1.2-acre site located in Berlin, New Hampshire. There are 2
buildings on this site designated as the East Wing and West Wing Buildings which
were formerly used as a research and development facility for the Berlin Mills
Company.

The exterior soil and interior parts of the East Wing Building contained
contarninants which required environmental remediation. In a letter dated May 2.
2012, the State of New Hampshire Department of Environment Services (the
Department) noted that the remedial actions for the exterior soils and parts of the
East Wing Building had been completed to the Department's satisfaction.

In addition, the Department noted that the contaminants related to the West Wing
Building did not pose an exposure hazard to site occupants, area residents, and the
environment provided the West Wing Building is maintained to prevent further
structural deterioration. If further deterioration occurs and contaminants are

released into the environment, the Organization could be required to take additional
action including containment and remediation.

Loss Contingencies

During the year ended June 30. 2018, legal actions were brought against the
Organization. Due to the uncertainty of the outcome of such cases as of June 30,
2018, as well as the uncertainty of the Organization's potential liability, no amount
ha.s been accrued hy the Organization at this time

NOTE 14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in Note 6, the Organization has a loan payable to a non-profit
organization which also provides-pass-through state and federal funding for some
of the Organization's programs. See Note 6 and Note 16 for terms of the note
payables and related forgiveness of debt. The Organization had a note payable to
a related party in the amount of $24,533 at June 30, 2017. The note payable was
paid in full during 2018.

NOTE 15. RESIDUAL RECEIPTS ACCOUNT

Cornerstone Housing North, Inc.'s use of the residual receipts account Is contingent
upon HUD's prior written approval. During the year ended June 30, 2017, HUD
approved a withdrawal from the residual receipt account in the amount of $13,205
for an energy efficiency project. There were no withdrawals from the residual
receipts account for the year ended June 30, 2018. Residual receipts of $21,326
and $1,847 were held in a segregated account for the years ended June 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.
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NOTE 16. FORGIVENESS OF DEBT

During trie year ended June 30, 2017, the Organization realized forgiveness of debt
income in connection with a note payable to a non-profit organization. Forgiveness
of debt income totaled $25,912 for the year ended June 30. 2017.

NOTE 17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events are events or transactions that occur after the statement of
financial position date, but before financial statements are available to be issued.
Recognized subsequent events are events or transactions that provide additional
evidence about conditions that existed at the statement of financial position dale,
including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing financial statements.
Non-recognized subsequent events are events that provide evidence about
conditions that did not exist at the statement of financial position date, but arose
after that date. Management has evaluated subsequent events through October 19,
2018, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
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PROFESSlflNAJ. A<;S<x:UTION'

CERTIFIED PUBI.iC ACCOUNTANTS

WOLFEBOKO ■ NOKIH CON'VVAi'

TRI-COUNTY COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM. INC. DOO • CONCORD

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON

AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors of

TrI-County Community Action Program, Inc.
Berlin. New Hampshire

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
Issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Tri-County
Community Action Program. Inc. (a nonprofit organization), which comprise the statement of financial
position as of June 30, 2018. and the related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash
flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our
report ihereon dated October 19, 2018.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered Tri-County
Community Action Program Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine
the audit procedures that are appropriate in ttte circumstances for the purpose of expressing our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of Tri-County Community Action Program Inc.'s internal control. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Tri-County Community Action Program Inc.'s internal
control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or ''
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control v/as for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material

weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Tri-County Community Action Program Inc.'s
financial statements are free from material misstalement. we performed tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of consolidated financial statement
amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of
our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
organization's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the organization's internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

October 19, 2018
North Conway, New Hampshire
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE

FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL

OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

To (he Board of Directors of

Tri-County Comfnunily Action Program, Inc.
Berlin. New Hampshire

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Tri-County Community Action Program Inc.'s compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in.the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material
effect on each of Tri-County Community Action Program Inc.'s major federal programs for the year
ended June 30. 2018. Tri-County Community Action Program Inc.'s major federal programs are
identified in the summary of auditors' results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grants applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Tri-County Community Action
Program Inc.'s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements
referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America: the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States;
and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Parl 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). Those standards and Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Tri-County Community Action Program Inc.'s
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Tri-County Community
Action Program inc.'s compliance.
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion. Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc. complied, in all material respects, with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each
of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of TrI-County Community Action Program, Inc. is responsible for establishing and
maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Tri-County
Community Action Program Inc.'s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that
could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing
procedures that are appropriate in the circumslances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc.'s internal control over compliance.

A deftciency in internal cunhul over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or combination Of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program.that is less
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over^ compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

October 19, 2018

North Conway, New Hampshire
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TRI-COUNTY COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM. INC.

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30. 2018

1. The auditors' report expresses an unmodified opinion on the financial statements of Tri-County
Community Action Program, Inc.

2. No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the financial statements are reported in the
Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance v^ith

Government Auditing Standards.

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of Tri-County Community
Action Program, Inc. which would be required to be reported in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards, were disclosed during the audit.

4. No significant deficiencies in Internal control over major federal award programs during the audit
are reported in the Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and
on Internal Control over Compliance in Accordance with the Uniform Guidance.

5. The auditors' report on compliance for the major federal award programs for Tri-County
Community Action Program, Inc. expresses an unmodified opinion on alt major programs.

6. No audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a) are
reported in this Schedule.

7. The programs tested as major programs included:

U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services, LIHEAP - CFDA #93.560

U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services, TANF Cluster - CFDA #93.558

Electrical Assistance Program (Non-Federal) - NH Public Utilities Company

8. The threshold for distinguishing Type A and B programs was $750,000.

9. Tri-County Community Action Program, Inc. was determined tp be a low-risk auditee.

FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT

None

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT

None
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xt'Ionadnock

Adult Care

Center

Normal Scheduled Maintenance-

Every 7,500 miles or six months

*We choose to be proactive

in doing oil changes every

5000 miles due to climate,

road conditions and amount

of miles Incurred.

1. Change engine oil and filter

2. Rotate tires inspect tire wear

and thread depth

3. Inspect wheels and related

components for abnormal noise,

wear, looseness or drag

4. Perform multi-point inspection

Every 15,000miles or 12 months 1. Inspect automatic

Transmission fluid level

2. Inspect brake pads, shoes,

rotors drums, brake linings, hoses,

and parking brake

3. Inspect engine cooling system

strength and hoses

4. Inspect exhaust system and

heat shields

5. Inspect steering linkage, ball

joints, suspension, tie rod ends,

drive shaft and U-joints. Lubricate If

equipped with grease fittings.

J



4. Replace front wheel

bearings and seals If non-

sealed bearings are used

* Vehicles equipped with dual rear wheels should rotate the front wheels when

specified: rear wheels only if unusual wear is noted.

'Adopted July 2013
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Tri County Community Action Program, Inc.

Key Personnel

Name

Brenda Gagne

Jeanene McDonald

Title Salary

Director of Transportation $52,000.00

Transit Operations Mgr. $33,280.00



JEANENE MCDONALD

cdonald@tccap.org

Professional Summary

1 am one who goes above and beyond basic administrative tasks and takes on multiple projects at once.
Excellent work ethic and strength in boosting company morale. I can be put in various positions and
excel.

Skills

Highly Motivated • Team building

Professional • Multi line phone proficiency

Flexible • Critical thinker

Accurate and detailed • Project planning

Excellent planner and coordinator • HIPAA compliance

Works well under pressure • Have some knowledge in grant writing

Pleasant demeanor • Dependable

jrk History

Operations Manager, 07/01/2017 to Current

Tri County Cap Transit - 31 Pleasant Street, Berlin, NH

•  Follow Department of Transportation (DOT) policies ajid procedures.

• Lead, direct and manage fleet drivers and dispatch staff.

• Hiring, training, evaluating performance from staff

• Participate in tlie development and plan of annual budgets

•  Ensure operations are compliant with DOT standards for safety and insurance purposes.

Dispatcher, 04/2015 to Current 07/1/2017

Tri County Cap Transit - 31 Pleasant Street, Berlin, NH

• Assign drivers routes, destinations, and timelines.

• Keep in close contact with drivers who are on the road.

• Proficient at using dispatch software.

Responsible for keeping, verifying, and monitoring driver daily logs.

• Attend quarterly staff meetings and take minutes for those meetings.

•  Effectively work with co-workers

•  Provided outstanding customer service.



Assistant guest services manager, 31/2014 to 04/2015

Wildcat Mountain Ski Area - Gorham, NH

• Cross-trained and backed up other customer service managers.

• Hired seasonal staff.

• Made out v/eekly schedules.

• Oversees all guest services operations, including front desk, reservations, and ticket sales.

•  Ensure quality and guest satisfaction.

• Good through knowledge of scheduling software.

• Daily Deposits for all departments.

Assistant manager, 04/2012 to 01/2014

Toys R Us - Settlers Green, North Conway NH

• Organized private mailbox system using mailbox manager software.

• Reported to the district manager regarding all store and staff issues.

• Managed staff of 4 sales associates, 2 team leaders.

• Hiring staff and making work schedules.

• Daily Deposits.

Housing coordinator, 03/1999 to 09/2011

Northern Human Services - Berlin, NH

• Planned and coordinated logistics and materials for board meetings, committee meetings and

staff events.

• Ordered and distributed office supplies while adhering to a fixed office budget.

• Screened applicant resumes and coordinated both phone and in-person interviews.

• Drafted biweekly time sheets for Twelve (12) employees.

• Organized all new hire, security and temporary paperwork.

• Had to adhere to state rules and regulations.

•  Follow state procedures on running a state funded facility.

•  Follow a tight budget, to keep in state guidelines.

• Worked closely with other agencies.

• Open lines of communications with all areas of tlie Agency.

•  Responsible for working closely with the case management and intake staff.

Develop, implement and/or supervise programs and services in support of
assigned housing program

• Complied with state and Federal regulations for eligibility determination and
record-keeping.



• Prepared for state and Federal audits and provided regular reports to superiors

and the Board of Directors.

•  Perform case coordination, clinician collaboration, crisis prevention, crisis interventions to at least

15 consumers living with a severe mental illness.

• Demonstrates a working knowledge of public social service programs and policies.

Education



Brcnda Gagnc
Director of Transportation

Tri County Communit)' Action Program Inc.

Professional Summary:

Successful management of the day to day aspects of Public Transportation routes and
Demand Response transportation program including daily operations, statistical data reporting. Federal grant
writing, warrant articles, Federal quarterly reports, facility management, accounting, staff management;
monitoring productivity, goals; and keeping current on FTA and DOT procedures and policies. Proficient in
Microsoft excel, word, publisher and power point.

Experience:

Tri County CAP, Inc.

Tri County Transit
31 Pleasant St.

Berlin NH 03570

5/2017 - Present

.ector of Transportation

Responsibilities include;
Overseeing the operations and administrative functions of a social ser\'ice transportation program serving Coos,
Northern Grafton and Can'oll Counties.

Tri-County CAP, Inc.
Tri County Transit
31 Pleasant St.

Berlin NH 03570

7/2004-5/2017

Operations Manager

Responsibilities include;
*Running the daily operations of a public transit and para transit service.
*Facility Management.
♦Gathering statistics
♦Quarterly reporting to NHDOT and BEAS.
♦^ -sparing quailerly invoices to BEAS and NHDOT

eekly employee scheduling, staff management.
Creating procedure manuals

♦Grant writing



♦Budget preparation
*'Vriting Warrant Articles

..rug & Alcohol Testing
♦Emergency Preparedness

Mountain Village Construction
P.O. Box 96
Milan, N.H. 03588
5/1995- 1/2004

Accounts Manager/Office Manager

Responsibilities included;
♦Customer semce.
♦Accounting using Quick Books Pro.
♦Preparing payroll and Tax Payments.
♦Preparing Customer Statements and Invoices.
♦Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable.
♦Creating and lunning Profit and Loss Reports.
♦Data Entry.
*'"Sone communications and general secretarial duties.

Milan Parks and Recreation Dept.
P.O. Box 300
Milan, N.H. 03588
6/1997-3/2002

Parks and Recreation Director

Responsibilities included;

♦Directed and implemented spoils and lecreational programs for youth and adults for the
Towns of Milan, West Milan, and Dummer.

♦Development of new programs and year round activities.
♦Producing yearly budgets.
♦Equipment and materials purchasing.
♦Organizing and supervising a large Volunteer staff.
♦Working with the public to create new programs.
♦Coordinating with the Milan Village School on athletic and after school programs.
♦ ' -^plying for Federal and State Grants.



Education:

Graduate Gorham High School
Gorham Nl^

Granite Stale College
Emergency Management

Southern New Hampshire University
Bachelor of Business Administration

NHDOT Courses

Fundamentals of Successful Piojecl Mauagciiicnl, MTAP/RTAP Fmajicial Management Course
Basics of Facilities Management Seminar (Facility Maintenance Plan), Transit Security Workshop
FTA Drug & Alcohol Workshop, Emergency Planning and Disaster Management, NI-I Conference on Statewide
Emergency Preparedness, Procurement for Small and Medium Transit Systems.

r-^riified Training and Safely Reviewer
nmunity Transportation Association of America

June 2009

Certified Safety and Security Officer
Community Transportation Association of America
10/2010

Tri State Transit Conference

9/2007, 10/2008, 10/2010, 9/2011, 9/2013, 9/2014, 9/2016, 9/2017, 9/2018

Grant Writing Workshop
New Hampshire Community Technical College
Berlin NH 10/2005 .


